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Several years ago, we set out to fundamentally

improve our company’s industry position and

become a premier regional grocery distributor

and retailer. We believe Spartan Stores is now in

the best financial and market position since we

became a public company in August 2000. It has

truly been a productive two-year period, marked

by substantial improvements in our financial

performance, operations and market position.
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Spartan Stores, Inc. & Subsidiaries
The results of our discontinued operations are reflected separately
in the consolidated financial statements and in the table below.
(In thousands, except per share data and ratio)

Fiscal Year 2003 Fiscal Year 2004 Fiscal Year 2005

Net sales $  1,975,677 $  2,054,977 $  2,043,187

Gross Margin 363,535 375,499 386,671

Operating earnings (loss)* (38,358) 12,562 37,497

Net earnings (loss)* (122,332) (6,698) 18,826

Basic earnings (loss) per share (6.15) (0.33) 0.92

Shareholders’ equity 109,632 105,667 125,410

Total assets 556,306 392,864 384,457

Long-term debt, 220,411 128,793 94,794
including current maturities 0,000,000

Working capital 87,164 38,125 30,258

Long-term debt to equity 1.68 1.18 0.73

Share outstanding 19,999 20,092 20,524

* Fiscal 2003 includes asset impairment and exit costs of $47,711 ($31,076 after-tax) and net earnings (loss) also includes a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle of $41,600 ($35,377 after-tax).

Financial Highlights
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To Our Shareholders
Financial Performance Despite both direct
competition from larger competitors and rapid growth in
grocery product sales through non-traditional channels, we
achieved significant improvements in our financial
performance. During fiscal 2005, net income increased to
$18.8 million from a loss of $6.7 million in fiscal 2004.
Operating earnings for the year nearly tripled to $37.5 million
from $12.6 million in fiscal 2004 and cash from operating
activities increased more than 115 percent in fiscal 2005.
Sales grew at a two-year, compound annual rate of 1.7 percent
and, excluding certain asset impairment charges, operating
income has grown at a two-year, compound annual rate of
100 percent. Cash flow from operations also grew at a
two-year, compound annual rate of 73 percent. 

Our solid business performance has been recognized by the
financial markets and has been rewarding for all our
stakeholders including our customers, suppliers, associates,
lenders, communities and shareholders. Spartan’s stock
price appreciated more than 365 percent during the two-
year period ending on March 26, 2005, our fiscal 2005 year
end. With the share price improvement, the aggregate
market value of our Company’s common stock has increased
to more than $223 million from less than $50 million just
two years ago.

We believe it is important to place these financial
achievements into proper perspective. The grocery industry
today is the most competitive we have experienced in our
company’s 88-year history. Grocery products are readily
available at virtually every traditional and non-traditional
retail outlet and, during the past 10 years, Wal-Mart has
become the single largest grocer in the country. In addition,
five supercenters have opened in markets that directly
affected sales at our corporate stores during the past two
years. We have been able to engineer our improved
performance despite this challenging and very competitive
market environment.

To Our Shareholders (Continued on next page)
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Achievements During the past two years, Spartan
Stores has been transformed into a strong and respected
competitor in the grocery distribution and retail industry. We
achieved this by staying squarely focused on executing our
business plan, the foundation of which is our customers.
Fundamentally, we are a consumer-centric organization that
is delivering the right mix of products and services at the
right prices, and we strive to get better each and every day. 

Our organization and culture has evolved into one with
strong, energetic and competent individual leaders, continually
focused on meeting the needs of our distribution and retail
customers in an efficient and cost effective manner.
Throughout the entire organization, associates have a sense
of confidence. It is our people that have made a marked
difference. We now are much more proficient at the basics

of category management, merchandising, marketing,
operations and logistics. The strength of our associate
competency and leadership in these areas makes a clear
difference to our customers and distinguishes Spartan
Stores among industry competitors.

Two years ago, our goals were to return our retail operations
to profitability, strengthen our financial position, grow our
private-label sales and maintain a fresh physical store
appearance. I am pleased to report that we have made
substantial progress with each of these objectives. Our
retail operations reported an operating profit in every quarter
of fiscal 2005. Following our debt restructuring in the third
quarter of fiscal 2004, we negotiated a credit agreement
amendment that increased our credit facility, improved our
financial flexibility, and reduced our cost of capital. In addition,

To Our Shareholders (Continued)

To Our Shareholders (Continued on page 7)

 



We are confident Spartan Stores has an
outstanding future and are grateful for the
continuing support of our customers, suppliers,
associates and shareholders.

“
”6 Letter to Shareholders
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during the year we continued to use the improvements in
cash flow to pay down our borrowings. Our outstanding
debt is now at the lowest level in more than five years. Our
“Spartan” corporate private-label brand, which received a
packaging design award from PLBuyer trade magazine, better
aligns the packaging with the high quality of these products.
During the year, we introduced the “Spartan” brand in two
important dairy categories; ice cream and yogurt, and we
are experiencing strong growth in these two product
categories. Lastly, during the past two years, we made
major or minor remodels at 52 of our retail stores, touching
70 percent of our entire retail store base. 

Looking Ahead We are certainly proud of our recent
progress, but are forging ahead with the next phase of our
business plan that will continue to strengthen our market
position. The next phase focuses on expanding our store
base, providing more convenient products and services and
continuing to grow our private label program. 

The improvements in our financial position and cash flow
allow us to expand our capital campaign beyond the more
restrictive levels of the past several years. Therefore, we
are initiating a phase of new store construction. In order to
fill in certain market gaps, we expect to begin new store
construction by late fiscal 2006. In addition, we will also
invest capital to enlarge or replace certain existing stores.
These actions will take place at locations that make
economic sense and where we believe we can achieve
favorable investment returns. We expect to build two new
stores per year and expand square footage at an additional
two to three stores during each of the next several years. 

We began to expand our convenience product and service
offerings in fiscal 2005 with the introduction of three fuel
and convenience centers and the addition of five in-store
pharmacies. These initiatives have already produced
promising results and have been a positive influence on
incremental sales growth. The initial success of these
programs warrants expansion and we plan to open two
additional fuel and convenience centers and three additional
pharmacies in fiscal 2006. 

We also have significant growth opportunities in our
private-label programs. During fiscal 2006, we will be
introducing new private-label brands and phasing out certain
legacy brands. These initiatives will significantly expand our
product offerings, while providing more products at more
competitive price points. We plan to expand our private-label
brand penetration in the natural and organic categories
through the Full Circle program launched late in fiscal 2005.
We had an outstanding response from retail consumers and
independent distribution customers to our “Spartan” brand

ice cream and yogurt. During fiscal 2005, our private-label
penetration rate from distribution and retail sales increased
approximately 33 percent from the first to fourth quarters.
We are now converting our legacy private-label health and
beauty and entry level food product brands to Topco (our
private label partner) brands, TopCare and Valu Time,
respectively.  These initiatives will significantly increase the
product breadth offered in these major categories and lower
the cost of these products for our distribution customers
and retail stores. We plan to have more private-label
products at more competitive price points, which will
strengthen our competitive position relative to the
offerings of mass retailers.

The market environment remains dynamic and extremely
competitive. Although we expect aggressive expansion of
big-box retail stores in our market during the coming year,
these new stores should have less effect on our sales than
we experienced this past year. Many of these new
supercenters are either conversions of existing discount
retailers or are expected to open in markets where a
supercenter alternative already exists. In addition, we
expect the supercenter build rate to begin declining in fiscal
2007 as our markets reach big-box retail store saturation.
Moreover, some of our best performing supermarkets are in
markets that have multiple supercenters located nearby.
Competition and recent market place transactions such as
asset exchanges, mergers and acquisitions and national
supermarket chain store divestitures are also influencing
our growth opportunities. We keep a close watch on all of
these market issues and plan to take advantage of select
acquisition opportunities created by these changes when it
is prudent and in our shareholders best long-term interest. 

We are confident Spartan Stores has an outstanding future
and are grateful for the continuing support of our customers,
suppliers, associates and shareholders.

Craig C. Sturken
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
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Committed to our Communities Spartan Stores
has a long and respected tradition of supporting and
partnering with the communities we serve. The investment
in our communities enriches the quality of life in the places
where we do business and Spartan Stores, in turn, is able
to build a healthy business environment and company culture.

As a distributor and a retailer Spartan Stores has a unique
opportunity to focus its time, talent and corporate contributions
to help those in need and enhance the quality of our schools
and educational programs. We are especially proud of the
commitment our associates make through their volunteer
efforts in all these activities. 

In fiscal 2005, Spartan Stores demonstrated its commitment
to our communities by supporting a variety of corporate
events, charitable programs, local organizations and
community causes. Here are just a few.

Education and Development of Youth
Spartan Stores supports Special Olympics in Michigan with
volunteers and raising funds for athletes. Special Olympics
unites our owned and independent customer stores through
fundraising and volunteer activities. Spartan’s corporate
contribution to Special Olympics Michigan over the past 21
years totals close to $7 million.

Spartan Stores supported more than 2,000 schools, donating
nearly $600,000. Spartan Stores’ associates visited and
mentored students of Straight and Sibley Elementary
schools in Grand Rapids, Michigan, brought healthy snacks
weekly and provided needed clothing as part of our full
time partnership.

Community Profile
Hunger and Disaster Relief When the families
of the victims of the Tsunami tragedy needed aid, Spartan
Stores raised and contributed over $70,000 to the disaster
relief efforts through our partnership with the Salvation
Army by designating our retail and customer stores as
collection sites for donations.

Spartan Stores, ACCESS (All County Church Emergency
Support System) and WZZM-13 (a local television station)
collected and distributed 300,000 pounds of non-perishable
grocery items to food pantries and kitchens to ensure area
families did not go hungry during the summer.

Spartan Stores is the largest contributor to the Second
Harvest Gleaners Food Bank, donating 2.1 million pounds of
produce, dairy and dry groceries for distribution to church
and agency food pantries throughout West Michigan and
Michigan’s Upper Peninsula.

Promoting a Healthy Community Family Fare,
Glen’s, and The Pharm pharmacies partner with health
providers to offer an annual schedule of free and low-cost
screenings including cholesterol, skin, diabetes and
blood pressure, along with nutrition and preventive
health information. 

Spartan Stores has been a Juvenile Diabetes Research Fund
sponsor for the past six years, raising over $150,000 in
funds through store level consumer contributions and
associate team sponsorships.

               



Company Profile
Spartan Stores is a leading regional grocery distributor and grocery retailer, operating principally in Michigan and Ohio. We
are the largest grocery distributor in Michigan and the tenth largest distributor in the United States. Our distribution and
retail operations hold a combined number 1 or number 2 market share in many of the key Michigan markets we serve. For
fiscal 2005, the Grocery Distribution segment generated 55 percent of our consolidated net sales and the Retail segment
accounted for the remaining 45 percent.

Grocery distribution Spartan’s Grocery Distribution segment provides a selection of approximately 40,000 national
and regional brand, and approximately 2,000 private label brand products, including dry groceries, produce, dairy, meat, deli,
bakery, frozen food, seafood, floral, general merchandise, pharmacy, and health and beauty care items to over 300 independent
grocery stores and our 74 corporate owned stores. 

We distribute products to our customers from two distribution centers located in Grand Rapids and Plymouth, Michigan that
consist of approximately 1.6 million square feet of storage space. Total revenues from our Grocery Distribution segment,
including shipments to our corporate owned stores, were $1.6 billion for fiscal 2005.

Retail Our Retail segment operates 54 retail supermarkets and 20 deep-discount food and drug stores predominantly in
midsize metropolitan, tourist and lake communities of Michigan and Ohio. Our retail supermarkets are operated under the
banners Family Fare Supermarkets and Glen’s Markets and our 20 deep-discount food and drug stores operate under the banner
The Pharm. Net sales at our Retail segment were $922.6 million for fiscal 2005.

Supermarkets Our retail supermarkets average approximately 38,000 total square feet per store and typically offer dry
groceries, produce, dairy products, meat, frozen food, seafood, floral products, general merchandise, beverages, tobacco
products, health and beauty care products, delicatessen items and bakery goods. Twenty-eight of our supermarkets also offer
pharmacy facilities. 

During fiscal 2005, we opened three fuel and convenience centers in Michigan operated under the banners Family Fare Quick
Stop and Glen’s Quick Stop. These centers offer refueling services and, in the adjacent convenience store, a limited variety of
immediately consumable products. 

Our neighborhood market strategy distinguishes our stores from supercenters and limited assortment stores by emphasizing
convenient locations, demographically targeted merchandise selections, strong perishables offerings, customer service, value
pricing and community involvement.

Deep-discount food & drug stores The Pharm offers a unique combination of a full-service pharmacy, general
merchandise products and basic food offerings. These stores operate under a deep discount format that emphasizes everyday
low prices that are very competitive with supercenter offerings and are less than those of a traditional supermarket or drug
store. The Pharm stores average approximately 29,000 total square feet per store.

Spartan Stores, Inc. Annual Report 2005 9

Grocery distribution centers
Supermarkets
Deep-discount food & drug stores

                         



10 Q&A

Q: Spartan Stores reported a strong financial performance
in fiscal 2005 with significant growth in operating earnings
and cash from operations. What led to this strong performance?

A: While fiscal 2005’s financial results exceeded our initial
expectations for the year, they demonstrated the fundamental
improvements made to our business units over the past two
years.  Significant improvement in profitability at both of our
operating divisions was the underlying reason for this solid
performance. In our Retail Division, gross margins improved
because we had better product assortments, promotional
campaigns and pricing strategies. In addition, our lower operating
cost structure allowed us to further improve the bottom line. 

Spartan’s Distribution business also benefited from
increased gross margin rates as we improved our
merchandising execution. Also, productivity and cost
containment initiatives allowed us to hold the line on
expenses despite lower sales volumes. 

Our consolidated financial performance was also aided by
lower outstanding borrowings and interest rates, which
reduced our interest costs. 

A discussion with David Staples,
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Q: The improvement in profitability and in working capital
investment caused a significant improvement in cash flow
generation. How does the company plan to employ the
strong cash flow being generated?

A: The grocery business is a capital-intensive industry
that requires continual investment in technology, existing
store locations and new store construction. Investments in
these areas are imperative to remain a viable industry
competitor. During fiscal 2005, we used the incremental
cash flows to pay down our outstanding borrowings and to
perform major and minor remodels at 16 stores. We also
made information technology upgrades during the year that
significantly improved our ability to manage inventory and
track the implications of our promotional strategies.

Most of our incremental cash flow will be invested in ways
that are expected to strengthen our competitive position
and provide favorable investment returns. We will make
additional capital improvements to refresh existing retail
stores, to expand convenient services such as in-store
pharmacies and new fuel stations and to fill in existing
markets through new store construction. This past fiscal
year, we used cash flow to pay down a significant amount
of outstanding debt, however, we do not expect to reduce
borrowings at that same rate in fiscal 2006. Acquisition
opportunities also could become available that represent
sound investments, prudent use of capital, and a chance to
strengthen our market position. Incremental cash flow and
additional debt would be considered as funding sources in
these circumstances. 
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Q: The marketing and merchandising functions have
played vital roles in the continuing improvement of
Spartan’s distribution and retail operations. How have these
functions changed during that past several years?

A: We have taken a much more scientific and analytical
approach to these business disciplines through our category
management initiative. Category management is based on
using available market data to make informed product
decisions. We are much better at analyzing syndicated
market data on specific products and categories and using
the analysis to optimize the performance of each product
category. This analytical approach has improved our market
segmentation strategy, allowing us to design more effective
marketing and promotional campaigns that more closely
match our consumers’ preferences. This is a significant
departure from past practices that relied more heavily on
market intuition. 

Today, we also have much stronger links and better
synchronization between the marketing and merchandising
functions. This synchronization results in comprehensive
marketing and merchandising programs that better support
the product category strategies and deliver value to our
customers. It also allows us to better partner with
our distribution customers by offering them better
merchandising support.

We are particularly proud of our new product speed to shelf
initiatives. We believe that being the first to shelf with new
products in our markets will be a competitive advantage and
we have made significant strides in this area. We performed
well above industry average rates for speed-to-shelf
placement on key products introduced by leading consumer
product manufacturers during fiscal 2005. 

Our private-label program, another area of differentiation,
has been a key strategic initiative and we continue to make
great progress with this program. We are proud to have won
an award for our private-label packaging design from
PLBuyer trade magazine. This past year, we launched our
“Spartan” brand in important ice cream and yogurt dairy
categories, and the customer response has been outstanding.
During fiscal 2005, our private-label penetration rate,
including distribution and retail sales, increased by nearly
33 percent from the first to the fourth quarter. 

We are currently converting our Pharm private-label health
and beauty care products to TopCare, a Topco (our private-
label partner) brand label. We are also transitioning our
Home Harvest brand to Valu Time, another Topco brand.
These changes will significantly increase the product
assortment currently offered, while lowering product costs
for our retail stores and distribution customers. These
strategic initiatives introduce products at lower price
points, which will make our offerings even more competitive. 

Q: What fundamental changes took place in the distribution
operation this past year that have created a real and
sustainable competitive advantage?

A: Spartan Stores is a true value-added distributor. Many
distributors claim to be value-added, but few provide the
types of service that help customers be more competitive.
We are focusing intensely on services that bring value to
our customers, which is a primary element of our distribution
strategy. One of the key changes is our desire and ability to
partner with retailers in areas such as merchandising,
promotion and in-store execution. The changes in our
infrastructure and management resources have brought
competencies and experience from many of the largest and
best retailers in the country to Spartan that can be shared
with our customers. We also continue to improve our ability
to assist with store design and systems integration.

Another area of change was the creation of our specialty
warehouse. This warehouse has helped reduce system-wide
inventory levels, while significantly expanding our unique
product offerings. Specialty products are now warehoused
in a single location. This new warehouse configuration has
increased our operational efficiency in moving, storing and
transporting low turnover inventory products and it has
improved the service and product offerings to our
customers. It also provides distribution customers with better
pricing on specialty items because we have been able to
reduce their need for certain third party suppliers. 

We also remain committed to high service levels and
on-time delivery while improving our productivity. These
areas are key competitive advantages for us and we continue
to improve. 

A discussion with Dennis Eidson,
Executive Vice President Marketing & Merchandising

                  



12 Q&A

Q: Spartan Stores’ owned retail stores have performed
exceptionally well this past year and made significant
contributions to the Company’s improving financial performance.
What factors contributed to this retail performance?

A: There is no single issue that led to the improved
performance, rather a combination of strategic decisions
and numerous initiatives that began two years ago. 

Focusing on the consumer and applying business strategies
centered on convenience have been very successful for us.
Our stores are located in many of the best communities in
northern and western Michigan and Ohio, which we believe
is a strength of our company. We have enhanced this
strength with customer-focused services such as additional
pharmacy locations at existing stores, new fuel centers, and
self-checkout services. This past year, we added five
in-store pharmacies, two with drive-thru services,
developed two fuel and convenience centers, acquired a
third and added self-checkout services at 10 new locations.

We are firmly committed to maintaining a fresh physical
appearance at our stores and, as such, we remodeled
and/or conducted merchandise resets at 16 stores during

fiscal 2005. During the past two years, we have performed
either major or minor remodel work on 70 percent of our
entire 74 retail store base. 

Retail store labor efficiency is another area where we have
made significant progress. Increased effort and the use of
an automated retail store labor scheduling system that more
effectively matches store labor to peak and off-peak store
traffic volumes has improved our store labor productivity by
more than eight percent this year. 

This past year, we also made major strides standardizing
our shrink control practices. These new practices led to a
meaningful shrink reduction during the second half of the
year, which contributed to gross profit margin improvements.
Our highly energized retail team has also greatly contributed
to the success of our retail operations through a continued
commitment to our customers. 

A discussion with Ted Adornato,
Executive Vice President Retail Operations
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Q: At an organizational level Spartan Stores is operating
as a much more cohesive company with the distribution and
retail segments functioning in a more synchronized manner.
What structural and incentive changes have helped bring
the organization into better alignment?

A: We view our company as a high performance
organization, where goals on a corporate and individual
level are closely linked to our strategic business plan. Today,
associates have a much clearer focus on goals that advance
our strategic business objectives because the goals are in
line with individual performance objectives and annual
incentive bonus programs. Associates have a better
understanding of how individual efforts and compensation
align with the company’s strategic plan. 

Our annual incentive bonus plan is structured with two
components that create a stronger and more direct link to
Spartan’s strategic business plan. One component is based
on the achievement of corporate level financial goals and
the second is based on objectives set at an individual or
business unit level. This structure creates a stronger link
between our strategic initiatives, job performance and
incentive compensation. 

All individual performance goals must directly support our
business plans. This process helps to cascade our corporate
business objectives through all levels of the company. For
example, our retail segment has individuals or groups
responsible for meeting specific sales and profitability
targets that are linked to corporate goals. Our distribution

segment also assigns individual or group responsibility for
meeting sales, profitability and productivity goals. At the
corporate level, managers have specific objectives that link
to the company’s strategic initiatives and operating budgets.
For example, the health and safety department set a goal to
reduce the company’s workers’ compensation expenses,
while loss prevention set a goal to reduce retail shrink.
Annual incentive bonuses are paid if these goals are
reached and the company has achieved its financial goals.

Associate training is another area where we made
significant changes that more closely align investments to
corporate performance goals. All training programs must
improve associate skills and knowledge in areas that will
directly advance our corporate business plans.

A related benefit is that non-value added investments and
activities are more closely scrutinized. This process has
helped to better prioritize company resources and reduce or
eliminate non-value added work.

Collectively, these changes have created stronger links
between incentives and performance objectives, created a
greater sense of associate ownership of strategic initiatives
and improved associate understanding of our corporate
goals. We now have much better structural alignment with
direct links to our strategic business plan.

A discussion with Mark Eriks,
Executive Vice President Support Services
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Our solid business performance has been
recognized by the financial markets and has
been rewarding for all our stakeholders including
our customers, suppliers, associates, lenders,
communities and shareholders.

Pictured left to right: Craig C. Sturken, James F. Wright, Timothy J. O’Donovan, Dr. Frank M. Gambino, Elizabeth A. Nickels,
Gregory P. Josefowicz, M. Shân Atkins, and Kenneth T. Stevens.

“

”
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Selected Financial Data

The following table provides selected historical consolidated financial information of Spartan Stores. The historical information was derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for each of the five fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 through March 26, 2005.
Fiscal 2001 was a 53-week year. Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 2001 through fiscal 2004 selected financial data to
conform to the fiscal 2005 presentation. As noted elsewhere in this Annual Report, for all years presented, all information in this Annual
Report has been adjusted and the discontinued operations information is excluded, unless otherwise noted. See Note 3 for additional
information on discontinued operations.

(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended

March 26, March 27, March 29, March 30, March 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Statements of Operations Data:

Net sales $ 2,043,187 $ 2,054,977 $ 1,975,677 $ 2,112,599 $ 2,197,986

Cost of sales 1,656,516 1,679,478 1,612,142 1,719,257 1,826,034

Gross margin 386,671 375,499 363,535 393,342 371,952

Selling, general and administrative expenses 349,174 362,937 354,182 361,019 332,022

Provision for asset impairments and exit costs (A) - - 47,711 1,030 1,098

Operating earnings (loss) 37,497 12,562 (38,358) 31,293 38,832

Interest expense 9,315 13,146 17,322 17,250 18,526

Debt extinguishment (B) 561 8,798 - - -

Other, net (924) (275) (730) (2,934) (2,067)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations 
and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 28,545 (9,107) (54,950) 16,977 22,373

Income taxes 8,682 (3,187) (19,159) 5,476 8,628

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations  19,863 (5,920) (35,791) 11,501 13,745

(Loss) earnings from discontinued operations, net of taxes (C) (1,037) (778) (51,164) (1,654) 9,697

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of taxes (D) - - (35,377) - -

Net earnings (loss) $ 18,826 $ (6,698) $ (122,332) $ 9,847 $ 23,442

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 20,439 20,016 19,896 19,549 17,333

Basic earnings (loss) from continuing operations per share $ 0.97 $ (0.30) $ (1.80) $ 0.59 $ 0.79

Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.92 (0.33) (6.15) 0.50 1.35

Cash dividends per share - - - - 0.0125

Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets $ 384,457 $ 392,864 $ 556,306 $ 760,591 $ 801,543

Property and equipment, net 108,879 108,437 120,072 266,423 285,988

Working capital 30,258 38,125 87,164 115,631 82,199

Long-term obligations 91,946 124,616 183,817 295,213 315,023

Shareholders’ equity 125,410 105,667 109,632 231,492 218,413

(A) See Note 4 to Consolidated Financial Statements

(B) See Note 5 to Consolidated Financial Statements

(C) See Note 3 to Consolidated Financial Statements

(D) See Note 2 to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Executive Overview

Spartan Stores is a leading regional grocery distributor and grocery
retailer, operating principally in Michigan and Ohio. 

We currently operate two reportable business segments: Grocery
Distribution and Retail. Our Grocery Distribution segment provides a
full line of grocery, general merchandise, frozen and perishable
items to over 300 independently owned grocery stores and 74 corporate
owned stores. Our Retail segment operates 54 retail supermarkets in
Michigan under the banners Family Fare Supermarkets and Glen’s
Markets and 20 deep-discount food and drug stores in Ohio and
Michigan under the banner The Pharm. In fiscal 2005, we opened 3
fuel centers under the banners Family Fare Quick Stop and Glen’s
Quick Stop. Our retail supermarkets have a “neighborhood market”
focus to distinguish them from supercenters and limited assortment
stores. Our deep-discount food and drug stores offer a unique
combination of full-service pharmacy, general merchandise products
and basic food offerings. 

In fiscal 2004, as we embarked on the repositioning of the Company,
we established four key management priorities we believed were
central to our ability to refocus our organization on profitable growth.
We have made significant progress towards achieving these short-term
priorities, which has provided stability to our business and now allow
us to focus on future growth. A summary of our priorities and results
follows:

1. Focus the Company on distribution and retail sales growth: Since
2003 our net sales have increased approximately $68 million despite
a slight decrease in Grocery Distribution segment sales during fiscal
2005 due to the transition of two small customers. As we look forward,
our specialty goods warehouse is providing additional product offerings
and we are continuing to make significant progress with our private-
label products. We have launched our Spartan brand in several
major dairy categories during fiscal 2005 and have seen an increase
in our private label sales percentage. During the fourth quarter of fiscal
2005, we began converting our Pharm private-label health and beauty
care products to Top Care, and began to transition our Home Harvest
private-label brand to Valu Time. These moves will significantly
increase the product offerings in these product categories, thus
offering our independent customers and corporate owned stores
more variety at lower costs. 

2. Restore retail operations to profitability: We completed 15 store
resets and the Retail segment had operating earnings of $13.0 million,
including operating earnings in every quarter of fiscal 2005. Retail
operations continue to improve due to better execution at the store-
level, a better product mix, more effective promotional strategies,
more efficient use of labor, and our continued remodeling and
merchandise reset efforts.

3. Align operating cost structure with industry standards: Senior
management worked throughout the year with operating and
administrative management to implement cost containment
initiatives and improve efficiencies, which coupled with corporate
staff reductions in fiscal 2004, reduced Selling, General and
Administrative (“SG&A”) expenses by $13.8 million, or 3.8%, during
fiscal 2005.

4. Strengthen financial position by rationalizing under-performing
assets: During fiscal 2004 certain remaining non-core operations
were sold and/or closed. Also, we sold our 65% ownership interest
in a retail store to our former joint venture partner in the third quarter
of fiscal 2005. We believe the additional focus that we have been
able to place on our core operations is evident in our improved financial
and operational performance this year. Our net earnings increased
by $25.5 million in fiscal 2005.

In addition to these accomplishments, we also amended our senior
secured revolving credit facility (“credit facility”), which included an
interest rate reduction and facility increase. A portion of the funds
made available under the amended facility were used to prepay the
remaining $13.9 million due under the supplemental secured credit
facility.

Significant progress has been made towards achieving these short-
term priorities in fiscal 2005. We are now focused on the longer-term
strategy of the Company, including establishing a well-differentiated
market offering for our Grocery Distribution and Retail segments,
and additional strategies designed to create value for our share-
holders, retailers and customers. We will continue to face competitive
big-box store openings in fiscal 2006, and while we have developed
strategies to combat these competitors, the impact of our strategies
will affect our actual financial performance.

Our focus for fiscal 2006 will be:

• Distribution sales growth: Focus on penetration of existing
customers, attract new customers due to competitive activities,
continue to refine our specialty goods offering and share “best
retail practices” with customers to drive growth.

• Retail sales growth: Leverage investments in fuel centers and
pharmacy operations to drive adjacent supermarket comparable
sales, continue the rollout of category management initiatives,
specifically focusing on perishables offerings and continue with
our capital plan focusing on remodels, expansions and new stores
to fill in existing markets when available.

• Margin enhancement: Continue focus on retail shrink improvement,
increase penetration of private label programs, improved offerings
in our perishables department and continue focus on improving
the cost of merchandise through vendor partnerships.

• SG&A expense cost containment: Continue to focus on cost
reductions and efficiencies to help offset inflationary pressures
on SG&A expenses.

                       



Financial Review

Results of Continuing Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended March
26, 2005 Compared to the Fiscal Year Ended March 27, 2004

Net Sales
Net sales decreased $11.8 million, or 0.6%, from $2,055.0 million in
fiscal 2004 to $2,043.2 million in fiscal 2005. 

Net sales in our Grocery Distribution segment, after intercompany
eliminations, decreased $11.8 million, or 1.0%, from $1,132.4 million to
$1,120.6 million primarily due to the transition of two distribution
customers to new suppliers of $15.4 million, a lower than anticipated
conversion rate from the change in our deli and bakery program from
a jointly managed program to a warehouse supported program of
$21.5 million and lower other direct sales to customers of $8.3 million.
These decreases were partially offset by new customer sales of
$22.8 million, a shift in timing of the Easter holiday and increased
prescription drug program sales.

Net sales in our Retail segment were essentially flat at $922.6 million
in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005. Comparable store sales increased by
0.7%. Sales increases at our supermarkets were offset by sales
declines at our deep-discount food and drug stores and the sale of
our joint venture in a retail store, which resulted in a sales decline of
approximately $4.9 million.

Comparable store sales at our supermarkets increased 2.4% despite
four new supercenter store competitive openings that impacted
sales for most of fiscal 2005. The increase includes 0.8% due to a
change in the recording of bottle deposits as a liability when sold
and an asset when returned, rather than a net reduction in sales as
was done in previous fiscal years, as supermarkets typically receive
more returns of bottles than originally sold. This change has no
impact on reported gross margin dollars. We believe this revised
reporting method better reflects the true sales performance of our
stores. The remaining sales increases were due primarily to continued
improvements in marketing, merchandising and operations, the shift
in timing of the Easter holiday and contributions from new in-store
pharmacies and fuel centers of 0.7%. These increases were partially
offset by lower prescription sales at certain in-store pharmacies due
to the United Auto Workers (“UAW”) mail-order mandate.

Comparable store sales at our The Pharm deep-discount food and
drug stores decreased 5.7%. The sales decreases were primarily
due to lower prescription sales as a result of the UAW mail-order
mandate and the resulting effect on front-end sales. Also contributing
to the decrease were the strong sales gains recorded in the prior
year due to aggressive promotions and the cycling of customers
from the previous year’s Food Town store closings. On a two-year

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth items from our Consolidated Statements of Operations as a percentage of net sales and the year-to-year
percentage change in dollar amounts:

Percentage of Net Sales Percentage Change

March 26, March 27, March 29, 
2005 2004 2003 2005/2004 2004/2003

Net sales 100.0 100.0 100.0 (0.6) 4.0

Gross margin 18.9 18.3 18.4 3.0 3.3

Selling, general and administrative expenses 17.1 17.7 17.9 (3.8) 2.5

Provision for asset impairments and exit costs - - 2.4 - (100.0)

Other 0.5 1.0 0.9 (58.7) 30.6

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, discontinued 
operations and cumulative effect of a change 
in accounting principle 1.3 (0.4) (2.8) * (83.4)

Income taxes 0.4 (0.1) (1.0) * (83.4)

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 0.9 (0.3) (1.8) * (83.5)

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes (0.0) (0.0) (2.6) 33.3 (98.5)

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle - - (1.8) - (100.0)

Net earnings (loss) 0.9 (0.3) (6.2) * (94.5)

* Percentage change is not meaningful
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basis, which we believe more appropriately reflects the long-term
effect of our retailing strategies, comparable store sales at our deep-
discount food and drug stores increased 2.8%. 

During the past three fiscal years, eight competitor supercenters
opened in markets where we operate corporate owned stores and
an additional six supercenter openings are expected to occur during
fiscal 2006. We believe that due to the new competitor supercenter
openings being expansions of existing discount stores or in markets
already served by a supercenter, our improved marketing and
merchandising practices and the continued weakening of conventional
food competitors we will sustain our growth, but at rates closer to
industry averages.

Gross Margin
Gross margin represents sales less cost of goods sold, which
include purchase costs and vendor allowances. Vendor allowances
that relate to our buying and merchandising activities consist primarily
of promotional allowances, which are generally allowances on
purchased quantities and, to a lesser extent, slotting allowances,
which are billed to vendors for our merchandising costs such as setting
up warehouse infrastructure. Vendor allowances are recognized as
a reduction in cost of goods sold when the product is sold. Lump sum
payments received for multi-year contracts are amortized over the
life of the contracts based on contractual terms. 

Gross margin increased by $11.2 million, or 3.0%, from $375.5 million
to $386.7 million. As a percent of net sales, gross margin increased
from 18.3% to 18.9%. The gross margin improvement was primarily
due to improved buying practices resulting from our category
management improvements at both segments, a $3.7 million non-
cash inventory charge in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 related to
the implementation of a stock ledger and margin management
system and a $2.3 million favorable supply contract settlement in the
third quarter of fiscal 2005 related to pricing on purchases during the
past three years, including $0.6 million attributable to fiscal 2005. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A expenses consist primarily of salaries and wages, employee
benefits, warehousing costs, merchandising and marketing costs,
store operating costs, equipment rental, depreciation and other
administrative costs. 

SG&A expenses decreased $13.8 million, or 3.8%, from $362.9 million
to $349.2 million, and were 17.1% of net sales compared to 17.7% last
year. The decrease in SG&A is due to the following: 

• Reduced depreciation and amortization of $5.2 million, primarily at
the Retail segment due to the completion of depreciable lives on a
large number of acquisition-related store assets purchased more
than five years ago

• Reduced labor costs of $5.0 million at the Retail segment driven
primarily by operating efficiencies

• Reduced bad debt expense due to improved collection systems
and procedures and recoveries of $0.8 million

• Receipt of termination and penalty payments from a former
Grocery Distribution customer of $1.3 million

• A non-recurring $1.4 million charge in the fiscal 2004’s first quarter
related to the retirement distribution to the former Chief Executive
Officer

• Severance costs of $1.4 million associated with corporate staff
reductions in fiscal 2004

These decreases are partially offset by increases in employee benefit
and transportation costs, including the reinstatement of service
credits for the cash balance pension plan during fiscal 2005 and
increased fuel costs in our Grocery Distribution segment.

Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased $3.8 million, or 29.1%, from $13.1 million
to $9.3 million, and was 0.5% of net sales compared to 0.6% last year
due to lower interest rates resulting from the amendment of our
credit facility and the resulting repayment of the supplemental
secured credit facility. See additional discussion in “Liquidity and
Capital Resources,” below. Total average borrowings decreased to
$111.8 million from $174.6 million as a result of debt repayments
primarily generated from the divestiture of non-core business activities
and cash flow from operations.

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 87-24,
“Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations,” interest was
allocated to discontinued operations based on the interest on debt
that was required to be repaid as a result of disposal transactions.
Interest expense of $1.9 million was allocated to, and is included in,
Loss on discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for fiscal 2004. Interest expense is no longer allocated to
discontinued operations as all related debt has been repaid as a
result of the disposal of these operations.

The weighted average interest rate decreased to 8.33% for fiscal
2005 from 8.77% for fiscal 2004.   

Debt Extinguishment
We recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $0.6 million and $8.8 million
during the third quarters of fiscal 2005 and 2004 for unamortized bank
fees associated with previous financing activities.

Other, net
Other, net includes gains on sale of assets and interest income.
Fiscal 2005 includes a $0.8 million gain recorded on the sale of our
65% ownership interest in a retail store to our former joint venture
partner in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. We received total
consideration of $4.5 million from the transaction that was used to
reduce outstanding debt. 
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Income Taxes
Companies are regularly audited by federal and state tax authorities,
which may result in proposed assessments or adjustments. During
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Internal Revenue Service
concluded its audit of the fiscal 2001 through 2003 tax returns. As a
result of the audit, we released $2.0 million in tax reserves that are
no longer required with respect to these years, of which $1.3 million
is reflected in continuing operations and reduced our effective tax
rate to 30.4%. The remaining $0.7 million is included in the Loss from
discontinued operations on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Results of Continuing Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended March
27, 2004 Compared to the Fiscal Year Ended March 29, 2003

Net Sales
Net sales increased $79.3 million, or 4.0%, from $1,975.7 million in fiscal
2003 to $2,055.0 million in fiscal 2004. 

Net sales in our Grocery Distribution segment, after intercompany
eliminations, increased $37.2 million, or 3.4%, from $1,095.2 million in
fiscal 2003 to $1,132.4 million in fiscal 2004. The increase resulted
primarily from new customer sales of $38.9 million.

Net sales in our Retail segment increased $42.1 million, or 4.8%, from
$880.5 million to $922.6 million. Comparable store sales increased by
3.2%. The sales increases were driven by improved merchandising
and promotional programs driven by our focused category management
efforts coupled with better operational excellence, sales from three
stores open the entire fiscal year of $16.7 million, a shift in the Easter
holiday from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 to the first quarter of fiscal
2004, the closure of our Food Town stores which transferred some
business to select The Pharm locations and the closure of competing
stores in three of our northern Michigan markets in the third quarter
of fiscal 2004. 

Gross Margin
Gross margin increased by $12.0 million, or 3.3%, from $363.5 million
to $375.5 million. As a percent of net sales, gross margin decreased
from 18.4% to 18.3%. Gross margin in fiscal 2004 was negatively
impacted by a $3.7 million (0.2% of net sales) inventory adjustment
related to the implementation of a stock ledger inventory and margin
management system.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
SG&A expenses increased $8.8 million, or 2.5%, from $354.2 million to
$362.9 million, and were 17.7% of net sales in fiscal 2004 compared to
17.9% in fiscal 2003. The change in SG&A is due to the following: 

• Increased sales volume driving a related increase in SG&A of
approximately $6.1 million 

• $1.4 million related to the retirement distribution to the former
Chief Executive Officer

• Increases in operating costs associated with operating three new
stores that opened in the last half of fiscal 2003 of approximately
$2.9 million

• Severance costs associated with corporate staff reductions during
the first and third quarters of fiscal 2004 of $1.4 million, partially 
offset by savings in salaries and benefits related to the reductions

• General increases in other compensation and benefit costs

• Reduction in pension expense due to the suspension of service
and transition credits for our defined benefit pension plan

The accrual of pension service and transition credits were reinstated
for fiscal 2005, however, effective January 1, 2004, an amendment
was made to our defined benefit plan, reducing service credits for
certain participants. 

Interest Expense
Interest expense decreased $4.2 million, or 24.1%, from $17.3 million
to $13.1 million, and was 0.6% of net sales in fiscal 2004 compared to
0.9% in fiscal 2003. Total average borrowings decreased to $174.6
million from $270.8 million as a result of debt repayments primarily
generated from the divestiture of non-core business activities.

Interest expense of $1.9 million and $8.6 million was allocated to, and
is included in, loss on discontinued operations in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.
Interest expense allocated to discontinued operations decreased in
fiscal 2004 due to the effect of debt paydowns as a result of the
disposal of certain discontinued operations during the fiscal year. 

The decrease in interest expense from continuing operations was
primarily due to the refinancing of our bank agreement during the
third quarter and reductions in covenant waiver and compliance
fees. Interest expense was $2.8 million lower during the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2004 as compared to fiscal 2003. Fiscal 2003 also included a
$0.7 million charge made in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which required us to recognize
a portion of our interest rate swap exposure as interest expense.
This expense had previously been included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in the shareholders’ equity section of
the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The weighted average interest rate decreased to 8.77% for fiscal
2004 from 9.59% for fiscal 2003.   

Debt Extinguishment
We recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $8.8 million during the
third quarter of fiscal 2004 for unamortized bank fees associated with
previous financing activities.
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Discontinued Operations

Convenience Distribution Operations
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, we completed the sale of the
operating assets of United Wholesale Grocery Company (“United”).
Proceeds received on the sale of these assets were $16.9 million.
The asset sale included a continuing supply agreement between
Spartan Stores and the new owner; however, this supply agreement
does not constitute a significant continuing involvement, as defined
by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets.” As such, the operations and discontinued cash
flows of United have been eliminated from our ongoing operations. 

During the first quarter of fiscal 2004 we completed the sale of
substantially all the assets of L&L/Jiroch Distributing Company and
J.F. Walker Company to The H.T. Hackney Co. for approximately $40.8
million in cash and the assumption of certain liabilities.

Insurance Operations
At March 26, 2005, we had approximately $4.0 million remaining in
insurance reserves for open claim liabilities related to policies that
were not ceded (transferred) to an unrelated third party. We will
remain obligated under these policies until all claims are closed and
have retained an independent third party administrator to manage
these claims.  We have not issued policies since December 31, 2001
and retain liability only for those policies issued prior to
September 1, 2000. In fiscal 2003, we recorded a charge of $1.5 million
for additional amounts required to be paid to an unrelated third party
for claim liabilities previously ceded based upon updated actuarial
studies reflecting a larger than originally anticipated obligation in
accordance with the third party agreement. In fiscal 2005, a $1.2 million
credit was recorded based upon better than anticipated claims
results, which resulted in lower actuarial determined liabilities. Net
loss from the insurance operations from the measurement date,
January 2001, to March 26, 2005 totaled $2.1 million. 

Retail Operations
During fiscal 2005 we recorded provision for asset impairments and
exit costs of $3.1 million, of which $1.7 million was for a pension
withdrawal liability from a multi-employer pension plan affiliated
with the former discontinued Food Town supermarkets. The liability
will be paid over several years and we do not anticipate any further
pension liabilities attributable to our discontinued operations. The
remaining $1.4 million was recorded for additional store exit costs
due to changes in our sublease assumptions.

During fiscal 2003, we closed 15 retail stores and announced the
closing of 13 of our Food Town retail stores principally located in
Toledo, Ohio and outlying areas with the remaining 26 Food Town
stores to be sold or closed. During fiscal 2004, we completed the sale
of 24 Food Town stores for net proceeds of $42.1 million.  Stores not
sold were closed. 

Grocery Distribution Operations
We consolidated our Toledo, Ohio distribution operations into our
Michigan facilities during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. As a result
of the decision to exit the Food Town stores, the operations related
to these facilities were classified as discontinued operations in the
consolidated financial statements because the operations and cash
flows of these facilities were substantially eliminated from ongoing
operations. We continue to distribute to our The Pharm stores in
Ohio from our distribution facilities in Michigan.

Real Estate Operations
In fiscal 2004 and 2003, we sold properties representing substantially
all of the remaining assets and operations of our former Real Estate
segment; accordingly, we have reported the results of operations of
the discontinued components of the Real Estate segment and the net
gain (loss) on disposal as discontinued operations.

Discontinued operations generated sales of $320.0 million and
$1,279.8 million in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. There
were no sales in fiscal 2005. Total assets of discontinued operations
were $6.1 million at March 26, 2005 and $8.3 million at March 27, 2004.

For all years presented, the Consolidated Statements of Operations,
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and all related financial and
nonfinancial disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements in this Annual Report have been adjusted and the
discontinued operations information is excluded, unless
otherwise noted. 

Critical Accounting Policies

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, which are based on
historical experience and on various other assumptions and factors
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We have
discussed the development, selection and disclosure of these
estimates with the Audit Committee. Based on our ongoing review,
we will make adjustments as we consider appropriate under the
current facts and circumstances.

We believe that the following represent the more critical estimates
and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements:

Goodwill
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” we are no longer recording amortization expense related to
goodwill, and instead goodwill is reviewed for impairment on an
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annual basis. We adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142 on
March 31, 2002.  A non-cash goodwill impairment charge of $35.4 million,
net of provision for tax benefit of $6.2 million, was recorded in the
Retail segment as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle in the first quarter of fiscal 2003. In the third quarter of
fiscal 2003, we recorded an impairment charge of $45.0 million
(including $1.8 million in discontinued operations), prior to tax benefit
of $15.7 million, in the Retail segment. 

Fair value was determined based on the discounted cash flows and
comparable market values of the segment. Determining market values
using a discounted cash flow method requires that we make significant
estimates and assumptions, including long-term projections of cash
flows, market conditions and appropriate discount rates. Our
judgments are based on historical experience, current market trends
and other information. While we believe that the estimates and
assumptions underlying the valuation methodology are reasonable,
different assumptions could result in different outcomes. In estimating
future cash flows, we rely on internally generated five-year forecasts
for sales and operating profits, including capital expenditures and a
3% long-term assumed growth rate of cash flows for periods after
the five-year forecast. We generally develop these forecasts based
on recent sales data for existing operations and other factors. Based
on our annual review during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, no goodwill
impairment charge was required to be recorded. No goodwill impairment
charge would be required even if the current estimate of future
discounted cash flows was 10% lower. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other Than Goodwill
Long-lived assets to be held and used are evaluated for impairment
when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. When the undiscounted future
cash flows are not sufficient to recover an asset’s carrying amount,
the fair value is compared to the carrying value to determine the
impairment loss to be recorded. No material impairments for long-lived
assets to be held and used were determined to exist for fiscal 2005,
fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003.  

Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value, less costs to sell. During fiscal 2004, asset
impairment charges of $0.9 million were recorded in discontinued
operations, prior to provision for tax benefit of $0.3 million. During fiscal
2003, asset impairment charges of $43.9 million (including $42.3 million
in discontinued operations), prior to provision for tax benefit of
$15.8 million, were recorded on assets at retail stores, office and
warehouse facilities. The related assets are recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as Property and equipment held for
sale. Fair values are determined by independent appraisals, quotes
or expected sales prices developed by internal real estate
professionals. Estimates of expected sales prices are judgments
based upon our experience, knowledge of market conditions and
current offers received. Changes in market conditions, the economic

environment and other factors can significantly impact these estimates.
While we believe that the estimates and assumptions underlying the
valuation methodology are reasonable, different assumptions could
result in a different outcome.

Exit Costs
We record exit costs for closed stores that are subject to long-term
lease commitments based upon the future minimum lease payments
and related ancillary costs from the date of closure to the end of the
remaining lease term, net of estimated sublease rentals that could
be reasonably obtained for the property. Future cash flows are
based on contractual lease terms and knowledge of the market in
which the closed store is located. These estimates are subject to
multiple factors, including inflation, ability to sublease the property
and other economic conditions. Internally developed estimates of
sublease rentals are based upon the market in which the property is
located, the results of previous efforts to sublease similar property
and the current economic environment. Reserves may be adjusted in
the future based upon the actual resolution of each of these factors.
At March 26, 2005, exit costs of $15.5 million are recorded net of
approximately $4.5 million of estimated sublease rentals. The following
table provides the activity of exit costs for fiscal years 2005, 2004 and
2003:

(In thousands)
Lease and Ancillary Costs

Balance at March 31, 2002 $ 5,006
Provision for lease and related ancillary costs, 

net of estimated sublease recoveries 17,936
Payments, net of interest accretion (3,969)
Balance at March 29, 2003 18,973
Provision for lease and related ancillary costs, 

net of estimated sublease recoveries 2,578
Assumption of leases 3,347
Payments, net of interest accretion (6,560)
Balance at March 27, 2004 18,338
Provision for lease and related ancillary costs, 

net of estimated sublease recoveries 1,400
Provision for pension withdrawal liability 1,700
Payments, net of interest accretion (5,918)
Balance at March 26, 2005 $ 15,520

Pension
Accounting for defined-benefit cash balance pension plans involves
estimating the cost of benefits to be provided in the future, based on
vested years of service, and attributing those costs over the time
period each employee works. The significant factors affecting our
pension costs are the fair value of plan assets and the selection of
key assumptions, including the expected return on plan assets, rate
of compensation increases, and discount rate used by our actuary to
calculate our liability. We consider current market conditions,
including changes in interest rates and investment returns, in selecting
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these assumptions. In fiscal 2005, we reduced our discount rate to
5.75% from 6.25%. We maintained our expected return on plan
assets at 8.50% and our rate of increases in compensation at 4.00%.
While we believe the assumptions selected are reasonable, significant
differences in our actual experience, plan amendments or significant
changes in the fair value of our plan assets may materially affect our
pension obligations and our future expense. A $4.0 million change in
the fair value of our plan assets would change fiscal 2006 pension
expense by approximately $0.2 million.

The unfunded portion of our defined benefit plans was $4.8 million
and $3.2 million for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, respectively. The
increase in the unfunded balance during fiscal 2005 is a result of an
increase in service cost primarily as a result of reinstating the accrual
of service and transition credits and benefits paid in excess of actual
return on plan assets and company contributions. The plan assets
decreased by 5.0% primarily due to benefit payments during the year
of $7.3 million partially offset by market gains on assets and company
contributions of $5.2 million.

Fiscal 2005 pension expense increased by $0.6 million from $1.5 million
in fiscal 2004 to $2.1 million. Fiscal 2005 expense is higher primarily
due to the reinstatement of the accrual of service and transition
credits. Fiscal 2004 expense includes $2.2 million of settlement
expense related to the retirement of our former Chief Executive
Officer, staff reductions and the sale of discontinued operations. The
settlement expense was partially offset by expected return on plan
assets in excess of service and interest costs, amortization and
deferral and curtailment income of $0.2 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table summarizes our Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003:

(In thousands)
March 26, March 27, March 29,

2005 2004 2003
Net cash provided by 

operating activities $ 60,630 $ 28,139 $ 20,230
Net cash used in 

investing activities (21,784) (10,283) (11,148)
Net cash used in 

financing activities (33,814) (6,922) (47,570)
Net cash (used in) 

provided by discontinued 
operations (3,404) (20,988) 33,840

Net increase (decrease) 
in cash and cash 
equivalents 1,628 (10,054) (4,648)

Cash and cash equivalents 
at beginning of year 13,252 23,306 27,954

Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of year $ 14,880 $ 13,252 $ 23,306

Net cash provided by operating activities increased during fiscal
2005 primarily due to increased earnings and favorable changes in
working capital related to the timing of accounts payable and benefit
accruals. The increase during fiscal 2004 was primarily due to the
receipt of a tax refund associated with net operating loss carrybacks
of $9.3 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2004 and lower losses from
continuing operations. These improvements were offset by reductions
in accounts payable due to changes in the timing of interest payments
associated with our new bank financing and vendor payments.

Net cash used in investing activities increased in fiscal 2005 due to
increased capital expenditure activity. We spent as many capital
dollars in fiscal 2005 as we had in the previous two fiscal years combined
as our improved financial performance allowed us to reinvest in the
business. Our Retail segment uses a majority, or 74.8%, 65.6% and
68.9% during fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively, of
our capital expenditure dollars. These capital expenditures were
spent on our three new fuel centers, one major store remodel, the
construction of in-store pharmacies, other minor remodels and
merchandise resets and upgrades to our information systems. Under
the terms of our credit facility, should our available borrowings fall
below certain levels, our capital expenditures are restricted to $30.0
million in fiscal 2006, increasing to $35.0 million per year in fiscal 2007
and thereafter. We are not currently governed by these restrictions,
as discussed below.

Net cash used in financing activities includes cash paid and
received from our long-term borrowings and the payment of financing
fees associated with our new credit facilities. Our current maturities
of long-term debt at March 26, 2005 are $2.8 million. Our ability to borrow
additional funds is governed by the terms of our credit facility,
discussed below.

Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations contains the
net cash flows of our discontinued operations and consists primarily
of net proceeds received on the sale of assets, net of identifiable
debt repayments, the payment of store exit cost reserves, partial
year operating results and the payment of severance and related
benefit accruals of employees that previously worked for discontinued
operations. We expect the cash usage of our discontinued operations
will be approximately $3.0 million in fiscal 2006 for the payment of
store exit costs and other liabilities.

Our principal sources of liquidity are cash flows generated from
operations and our amended $215.0 million credit facility. The credit
facility matures December 2008, and is secured by substantially all of
our assets. We had available borrowings of $78.9 million at March 26,
2005 and maximum availability of $88.9 million, which exceeds the
minimum excess availability levels, as defined in the credit agreement. 

Prior to amending our credit facility in the third quarter of fiscal 2005
we had a $170.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility and a
$15.0 million supplemental secured credit facility. The amended
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credit facility increased to $215.0 million from its original $170.0 million,
increased the advance rates on certain assets, included a reduction
in interest rates and extended the maturity by one year. A portion of
the funds made available under the amended agreement were used
to prepay without penalty the remaining $13.9 million due under the
supplemental secured credit facility. We recorded a pre-tax, non-cash
charge of $0.6 million for the write-off of unamortized bank fees
associated with the supplemental secured credit facility during the
third quarter of fiscal 2005. 

Available borrowings under the credit facility are based on stipulated
advance rates on eligible assets, as defined in the credit agreement.
The credit facility contains covenants that include the maintenance
of minimum EBITDA and maximum capital expenditures, as defined
in the credit agreement. These covenants will not be effective as
long as we maintain a minimum excess availability level, as defined
in the credit agreement. The credit facility provides for the issuance
of letters of credit of which $11.3 million were outstanding and
unused as of March 26, 2005. The senior secured revolving credit
facility bears interest at the London InterBank Offered Rate plus
1.75% or the prime rate (weighted average interest rate of 4.67% at
March 26,  2005). 

The credit agreement which governs our credit facility does not
allow us to make “restricted payments.” “Restricted payments”
include cash dividends, as well as redemption of shares and a variety
of other types of payments as defined in the bank credit agreements.
The covenants in the bank credit agreements could allow for the
payment of dividends in the future. However, we intend to use any
net earnings generated from our operations, to repay debt and to
acquire additional retail operations. We do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

Our current ratio decreased from 1.29:1.00 at March 27, 2004 to
1.21:1.00 at March 26, 2005 and our investment in working capital
improved to $30.3 million at March 26, 2005 from $38.1 million at
March 27, 2004. The reduced investment is the result of more effective
working capital management.

Our debt to total capital ratio at March 26, 2005 improved to 0.43:1.00
from 0.55:1.00 at March 27, 2004. The improvement was primarily due
to the reduction in long-term debt of $34.0 million, including current
maturities, during fiscal 2005 and the current year net earnings. 

Our total capital structure includes borrowings under our credit
facilities, various other debt instruments, leases and shareholders’
equity. Management believes that cash generated from operating
activities and available borrowings under the credit facility will be
sufficient to support operations under current circumstances.

The table below presents our significant contractual obligations as
of March 26, 2005:

(In thousands) Payment Due by Period
Less More 
than 1-3 3-5 than

Total 1 year years years 5 years
Long-term 

debt $ 94,794 $ 2,848 $ 6,255 $ 83,265 $ 2,426
Operating 

leases 128,447 21,590 36,295 28,410 42,152
Lease and 

ancillary 
costs of 
closed 
stores 15,520 4,708 7,030 2,926 856

Purchase 
obligations (1) 147,769 101,835 15,668 10,073 20,193

Self-insurance 
liability 11,252 5,371 3,802 1,110 969

Other 17,143 7,667 9,476 - -
Total $ 414,925 $ 144,019 $ 78,526 $ 125,784 $ 66,596

(1) The majority of our purchases involve supply orders to purchase
products for resale in the ordinary course of business. These contracts
are typically cancelable and therefore no amounts have been included
in the table above. The purchase obligations shown in this table represent
the amount of product we are contractually obligated to purchase to
earn $3.3 million in upfront contract monies received that are recorded
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. If we do not fulfill these purchase
obligations, we would only be obligated to repay the unearned
upfront contract monies.

In addition to the above, we expect to contribute $3.2 million to our
defined benefit plans in fiscal 2006 to meet the minimum funding
requirements. 

New Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” that will
require compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions
to be recognized in the financial statements. With limited exceptions,
the amount of compensation cost will be measured based on the
grant date fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. In
addition, liability awards will be remeasured each reporting period.
Compensation cost will be recognized over the period that an
employee provides services in exchange for the award. SFAS No.
123(R) replaces SFAS No. 123, and supercedes Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25. This Statement becomes effective
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at the beginning of fiscal 2007. We expect that the impact of adopting
the FAS No. 123(R) will be consistent with the pro forma expense that
has been previously disclosed, adjusted for future grants, cancellations
and exercises of stock options in accordance with the Statement.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS 106-2, “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” FSP FAS 106-2 provides
guidance on the accounting, disclosure, effective date and transition
rules related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003. FSP FAS 106-2 was adopted in the second
quarter of fiscal 2005 and did not have a significant impact on the
financial statements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We are exposed to industry related price changes on several
commodities, such as dairy, meat and produce, that we buy and sell
in both our Grocery Distribution and Retail segments.

We are also exposed to interest rate risk on a portion of outstanding
debt. The senior secured revolving credit facility bears interest at the
London InterBank Offered Rate plus 1.75% or the prime rate (weighted
average interest rate of 4.67% at March 26,  2005). An additional
$0.7 million of our long-term debt is subject to fluctuations in the
prime rate. The weighted average interest rates including loan fee
amortization for fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were 8.33%,
8.77% and 9.59%, respectively. 

We previously managed interest rate risk on a majority of our debt
through the use of interest rate swap agreements that expired on
June 30, 2003. We did not enter into new interest rate swap agreements
at the expiration of the prior agreements.

The estimated carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair
value at March 26, 2005 and March 27, 2004 due to variable interest
rates that cover a majority of the long-term debt and a comparison
of fixed rate debt to estimated rates that would currently be available
for debt with similar terms and maturities. The following table sets
forth the maturities of our debt outstanding as of March 26, 2005:

(In thousands)
Fiscal Year
2006 $ 2,848
2007 2,124
2008 4,131
2009 82,623
2010 642
Thereafter 2,426

$ 94,794

Forward-Looking Statements

The matters discussed in this Annual Report include “forward-looking
statements” about the plans, strategies, objectives, goals or expectations
of Spartan Stores, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “Spartan
Stores”). These forward-looking statements are identifiable by
words or phrases indicating that Spartan Stores or its management
“expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,”
“intends,” is “forecasting,” “optimistic” or “confident” or has
“goals,” “objectives” or “strategies” that a particular occurrence
“will,” “may,” “could,” “should” or “will likely” result or that a
particular event “will,” “may,” “could,” “should”, “is targeted” or
“will likely” occur in the future, that the “trend” is toward a particular
result or occurrence, or similarly stated expectations.  Accounting
estimates, such as those described under the heading “Critical
Accounting Policies” in this Annual Report are inherently forward-
looking. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. 

In addition to other risks and uncertainties described in connection
with the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report
and our other periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, there are many important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially, including our ability to:

• Strengthen our retail-store performance;

• Improve sales growth; 

• Increase gross margin;

• Reduce operating costs;

• Sell assets classified as held for sale on favorable terms;

• Continue to meet the terms of our debt covenants; and 

• Implement the other programs, plans, strategies, objectives, goals
or expectations described in this Annual Report

These factors will be affected by changes in economic conditions
generally or in the markets and geographic areas that we serve,
adverse effects of the changing food and distribution industries and
other factors including, among others, those discussed below.
Programs, plans, strategies, objectives and goals that are fully or
partially within our control are subject to change. 

Anticipated future sales are subject to competitive pressures from
many sources. Our Grocery Distribution and Retail businesses compete
with many warehouse discount stores, supermarkets, pharmacies,
other distributors and product manufacturers. Future sales will be
dependent on the number of retail stores that we own and operate,
competitive pressures in the retail industry generally and our
geographic markets specifically, and our ability to implement effective
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new marketing and merchandising programs. Competitive pressures
in these and other business segments may result in unexpected
reductions in sales volumes, product prices or service fees. 

Our operating and administrative expenses may be adversely affected
by unexpected costs associated with, among other factors: 

• Difficulties in the operation of our current business segments; 

• Future business acquisitions; 

• Adverse effects on existing business relationships with independent
retail grocery store customers; 

• Difficulties in the retention or hiring of employees; 

• Labor shortages, stoppages or disputes; 

• Business and asset divestitures; 

• Increased transportation or fuel costs; 

• Current or future lawsuits and administrative proceedings; 

• Losses of, or financial difficulties of, customers or suppliers;

• Changes in accounting policies, practices or estimates;

• Changes in federal, state or local tax laws, regulations or 
interpretations 

Our operating and administrative expenses could also be adversely
affected by changes in our sales mix. Our ongoing cost reduction
initiatives and changes in our marketing and merchandising
programs may not be as successful as we anticipate. Acts of terrorism,
sabotage or war have in the past and may in the future result in
considerable economic and political uncertainties that could have
adverse effects on consumer buying behavior, fuel costs, electronic
information or payment systems, shipping and transportation, product
imports and other factors affecting our company and the grocery
industry generally and may also have an adverse impact on our
operating results.

Our future interest expense and income also may differ from current
expectations, depending upon, among other factors: the amount of
borrowings; changes in our borrowing arrangements and agreements;
and changes in the interest rate environment. The availability of our
senior secured revolving credit facility depends on compliance with
the terms of the credit facility.

This section is intended to provide meaningful cautionary statements
for purposes of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. This should not be construed as a complete
list of all of the economic, competitive, governmental, technological
and other factors that could adversely affect our expected consolidated
financial position, results of operations or liquidity. We undertake no
obligation to update or revise our forward-looking statements to
reflect developments that occur or information that we obtain after
the date of this Annual Report.
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Spartan Stores, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended

March 26, March 27, March 29,
2005 2004 2003

Net sales $ 2,043,187 $ 2,054,977 $ 1,975,677
Cost of goods sold 1,656,516 1,679,478 1,612,142
Gross margin 386,671 375,499 363,535

Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative 349,174 362,937 354,182
Provision for asset impairments and exit costs - - 47,711

Total operating expenses 349,174 362,937 401,893

Operating earnings (loss) 37,497 12,562 (38,358)

Other income and expenses

Interest expense 9,315 13,146 17,322
Debt extinguishment 561 8,798 -
Other, net (924) (275) (730)

Total other income and expenses 8,952 21,669 16,592

Earnings (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations 

and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 28,545 (9,107) (54,950)
Income taxes 8,682 (3,187) (19,159)
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 19,863 (5,920) (35,791)

Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes (1,037) (778) (51,164)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of taxes - - (35,377)
Net earnings (loss) $ 18,826 $ (6,698) $ (122,332)

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.97 $ (0.30) $ (1.80)
Loss from discontinued operations (0.05) (0.03) (2.57)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle - - (1.78)
Net earnings (loss) $ 0.92 $ (0.33) $ (6.15)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations $ 0.96 $ (0.30) $ (1.80)
Loss from discontinued operations (0.05) (0.03) (2.57)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle - - (1.78)
Net earnings (loss) $ 0.91 $ (0.33) $ (6.15)

Weighted average shares:

Basic 20,439 20,016 19,896
Diluted 20,743 20,016 19,896

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Spartan Stores, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)

March 26, March 27, 
Assets 2005 2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 14,880 $ 13,252

Accounts receivable, net 43,445 39,732

Inventories, net 95,988 97,771

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,884 9,578

Deferred taxes on income 5,396 6,353

Property and equipment held for sale 3,855 4,051

Total current assets 171,448 170,737

Other assets

Goodwill 72,315 72,105

Deferred taxes on income 18,680 25,147

Other, net 13,135 16,438

Total other assets 104,130 113,690

Property and equipment

Land and improvements 13,674 13,221

Buildings and improvements 117,797 112,636

Equipment 209,239 204,069

Total property and equipment 340,710 329,926

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 231,831 221,489

Net property and equipment 108,879 108,437

Total assets $ 384,457 $ 392,864
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March 26, March 27, 
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 2005 2004

Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 82,391 $ 75,620

Accrued payroll and benefits 30,775 25,516

Insurance reserves 5,371 7,008

Other accrued expenses 19,805 20,291

Current maturities of long-term debt 2,848 4,177

Total current liabilities 141,190 132,612

Other long-term liabilities 16,814 20,085

Postretirement benefits 9,097 9,884

Long-term debt 91,946 124,616

Shareholders’ equity

Common stock, voting, no par value; 50,000 shares authorized; 20,524 and 20,092 shares outstanding 118,144 116,666

Preferred stock, no par value, 10,000 shares authorized; no shares outstanding - -

Deferred stock-based compensation (719) (179)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (203) (182)

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) 8,188 (10,638)

Total shareholders’ equity 125,410 105,667

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 384,457 $ 392,864

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Spartan Stores, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(In thousands)

Accumulated Retained
Deferred Other Earnings

Shares Common Stock-Based Comprehensive (Accumulated
Outstanding Stock Compensation Income (Loss) Deficit) Total

Balance – March 31, 2002 19,766 $ 115,722 $       -  $ (2,622) $ 118,392 $ 231,492 

Comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Net loss for fiscal 2003 - - - - (122,332) (122,332)

Unrealized gain on securities - - - 157 - 157

Minimum pension liability adjustment - - - (2,428) - (2,428)

Net gain on interest rate swap agreements - - - 2,077 - 2,077

Total comprehensive loss - - - - - (122,526)

Issuances of common stock 233 666 - - - 666 

Balance – March 29, 2003 19,999 116,388 - (2,816) (3,940) 109,632 

Comprehensive loss, net of tax:

Net loss for fiscal 2004 - - - - (6,698) (6,698)

Unrealized gain on interest rate swap agreements - - - 372 - 372 

Minimum pension liability adjustment - - - 2,383 - 2,383

Unrealized loss on securities - - - (121) - (121)

Total comprehensive loss - - - - - (4,064)

Purchases of common stock (56) (164) - - - (164)

Issuances of restricted stock 149 442 (442) - - -   

Amortization of restricted stock - - 263 - - 263 

Balance - March 27, 2004 20,092 116,666 (179) (182) (10,638) 105,667 

Comprehensive income, net of tax:

Net earnings for fiscal 2005 - - - - 18,826 18,826

Minimum pension liability adjustment - - - (21) - (21)

Total comprehensive income - - - - - 18,805

Issuances of common stock 209 748 - - - 748

Issuances of restricted stock 248 811 (811) - - -

Cancellations of restricted stock (25) (81) 81 - - -

Amortization of restricted stock - - 190 - - 190

Balance – March 26, 2005 20,524 $      118,144 $ (719) $ (203) $       8,188 $ 125,410

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

                         



Spartan Stores, Inc. Annual Report 2005 31

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Spartan Stores, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(In thousands) Year Ended

March 26, March 27, March 29,
2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings (loss) $ 18,826 $ (6,698) $ (122,332)

Loss from discontinued operations 1,037 778 51,164
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle - - 35,377

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 19,863 (5,920) (35,791)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Debt extinguishment 561 8,798 -
Provision for asset impairments and exit costs - - 47,711
Depreciation and amortization 22,582 28,433 30,022
Postretirement benefits (819) (553) (987)
Deferred taxes on income 8,426 (3,202) (34,130)
Other, net (494) 273 643
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (4,590) 3,422 6,680
Inventories 91 8,501 (3,841)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 4,263 6,597 (8,052)
Refundable income taxes - 9,349 (9,349)
Accounts payable 7,547 (19,501) 15,326
Accrued payroll and benefits 6,390 3,490 3,296
Insurance reserves (1,426) 43 (367)
Other accrued expenses and other liabilities (1,764) (11,591) 9,069

Net cash provided by operating activities 60,630 28,139 20,230

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (25,354) (11,539) (12,104)
Net proceeds from the sale of assets 3,897 630 233
Other (327) 626 723
Net cash used in investing activities (21,784) (10,283) (11,148)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds (payments) from revolver (15,187) 108,801 (300)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings - 15,000 -
Repayment of long-term debt (18,883) (121,637) (43,448)
Financing fees paid (492) (9,086) (4,488)
Proceeds from sale of common stock 748 - 666
Net cash used in financing activities (33,814) (6,922) (47,570)

Discontinued operations:
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations (3,404) (20,988) 33,840

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,628 (10,054) (4,648)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,252 23,306 27,954
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 14,880 $ 13,252 $ 23,306

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for interest $ 11,062 $ 19,415 $ 24,783
Cash paid for income taxes $ 17 $ 99 $ 497

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of
Presentation

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Spartan Stores, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Spartan Stores”). All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.  

Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect amounts reported therein. Due to the inherent uncertainty
involved in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods
might differ from those estimates.

Risks and Uncertainties
Unions represent approximately 21% of our associates. Contracts
covering approximately 620 distribution center and transportation
associates expire in October 2006 and contracts covering approximately
500 retail associates expire between June 2005 and June 2006. A
contract covering an additional 170 distribution center and
transportation associates is currently under negotiation. The parties
have agreed to extend the agreement beyond its April 2005 expiration
date to allow additional time for negotiations. Either party may terminate
this extension agreement with 7 days written notice. We believe that
an amicable resolution to the negotiation will occur; however, in the
event the parties are unable to reach an agreement, we have developed
a contingency plan that will enable us to continue to operate the
facility. Excluding the associates under the aforementioned contract
extension, less than 1% of our associates and approximately 2% of
our union associates are represented by contracts that expire by
March 2006.  

Fiscal Year
Spartan Stores’ fiscal year ends on the last Saturday of March. The
fiscal years ended March 26, 2005, March 27, 2004 and March 29, 2003
each consisted of 52 weeks. 

Revenue Recognition
The Retail segment recognizes revenues from the sale of products at
the point of sale. The Grocery Distribution segment recognizes
revenues when products are shipped or ancillary services are provided.

Cost of Goods Sold
Cost of goods sold includes purchase costs and promotional
allowances. Vendor allowances that relate to our buying and
merchandising activities consist primarily of promotional
allowances, which are generally allowances on purchased quantities
and, to a lesser extent, slotting allowances, which are billed to vendors
for our merchandising costs such as setting up warehouse

infrastructure. Vendor allowances are recognized as a reduction in
cost of goods sold when the product is sold. Lump sum payments
received for multi-year contracts are amortized over the life of the
contracts based on contractual terms. 

Fair Value Disclosures of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
and notes receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt. The
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes
receivable, and accounts and notes payable approximate fair value
at March 26, 2005 and March 27, 2004 because of the short-term
nature of these financial instruments.  The estimated carrying value
of long-term debt approximates its fair value at March 26, 2005 and
March 27, 2004 due to variable interest rates that cover a majority of
the long-term debt and a comparison of fixed rate debt to estimated
rates that would currently be available for debt with similar terms
and maturities. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments
with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase. 

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are shown net of allowances for credit losses
of $3.4 million in fiscal 2005 and $4.8 million in fiscal 2004.

Inventory Valuation
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the last-in,
first-out (“LIFO”) method. If replacement cost had been used,
inventories would have been $41.3 million and $40.9 million higher at
March 26, 2005 and March 27, 2004, respectively. 

Spartan Stores utilizes the retail inventory method to value inventory
for the Retail segment. Under the retail inventory method, inventory
is stated at cost with cost of goods sold and gross margin calculated
by applying a cost ratio to the retail value of inventories. During the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, Spartan Stores implemented a stock
ledger inventory and margin management system that significantly
enhanced its ability to calculate and track gross margin and inventory
balances on a weekly basis. The stock ledger automatically captures
purchase costs, retail prices and markdowns at the transaction
level, making our inventory valuation estimates more precise.
Spartan Stores recorded a pretax non-cash charge of $3.7 million
($2.4 million after tax) in Cost of goods sold in fiscal 2004 as a result
of the implementation of this system. 

Long-Lived Assets Other than Goodwill
Spartan Stores reviews and evaluates long-lived assets for impairment
when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. When the undiscounted future
cash flows are not sufficient to recover an asset’s carrying amount,
the fair value is compared to the carrying value to determine the
impairment loss to be recorded. Long-lived assets to be disposed of
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are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value, less the
cost to sell. Fair values are determined by independent appraisals or
expected sales prices developed by internal real estate professionals.
Estimates of future cash flows and expected sales prices are judgments
based upon Spartan Stores’ experience and knowledge of operations.
These estimates project cash flows several years into the future and
are affected by changes in the economy, real estate market conditions
and inflation.

Property and Equipment Held for Sale
Property and equipment held for sale consists of land, buildings and
equipment that Spartan Stores expects to sell within 12 months. The
assets are included in the following segments:

(In thousands)
2005 2004

Grocery Distribution $2,483 $2,652
Discontinued operations 1,372 1,399
Total $3,855 $4,051

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of
tangible net assets acquired in business combinations after amounts
have been allocated to intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized,
but is reviewed at least annually for impairment using a discounted
cash flow model. 

Other Assets
Included in Other assets are intangibles and debt issuance costs.
Intangible assets consist of favorable lease agreements and
non-compete agreements, which are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms of 8 to 20 years, or the non-compete
agreement length of 3 to 15 years.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over
the shorter of the estimated useful lives or lease periods of the
assets. Expenditures for normal repairs and maintenance are
charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation is computed using
the straight-line method as follows:

Land improvements 15 years
Buildings and improvements 15 to 40 years
Equipment 3 to 10 years

Software development costs are generally capitalized and amortized
between 3 and 5 year periods commencing as each system is
implemented. 

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable include checks that have been issued and have
not cleared Spartan Stores’ controlled disbursement bank accounts. 

Insurance Reserves
Insurance reserves include provisions for workers’ compensation,
health and property insurance for which Spartan Stores is self-
insured. Losses are recorded when reported and consist of individual
case estimates. Incurred but not reported losses are actuarially estimated
based on available historical information. Also included is a provision
for reported and incurred but not reported losses related to reinsurance
policies that insure the run-off of retained risk associated with the
discontinued Insurance segment.

Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed for differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities
that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future. Such
deferred income tax asset and liability computations are based on
enacted tax laws and rates applicable to periods in which the differences
are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amounts expected to be realized. Income tax expense is the tax
payable or refundable for the period plus or minus the change during
the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Spartan Stores previously used interest rate swap agreements that
expired on June 30, 2003. The agreements effectively converted a
portion of variable rate debt to a fixed rate basis. These agreements
were considered to be a hedge against changes in future cash
flows. Accordingly, the related gain or loss on these contracts was
deferred in shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). 

Stock-Based Compensation
Spartan Stores has a stock incentive plan, which is more fully
described in Note 10. Spartan Stores accounts for the plan under the
recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles
Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and related Interpretations. No stock-based compensation
cost for stock options is reflected in net earnings (loss), as all options
granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The
following table illustrates the effect on net earnings (loss) and earnings
(loss) per share as if Spartan Stores had applied the fair value recognition
principles of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
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Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to
stock-based employee compensation: 

(In thousands, except per share data)
2005 2004 2003

Net earnings (loss), as reported $ 18,826 $ (6,698) $ (122,332)
Deduct: Total stock-based 

employee compensation 
expense determined under 
fair value based method
for all awards, net of 
related tax effects (307) (442) (1,297)

Pro forma net earnings (loss) $ 18,519 $ (7,140) $ (123,629)
Basic earnings (loss) per share 

– as reported $ 0.92 $ (0.33) $ (6.15)
Basic earnings (loss) per share

– pro forma $ 0.91 $ (0.36) $ (6.21)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 

– as reported $ 0.91 $ (0.33) $ (6.15)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 

– pro forma $ 0.89 $ (0.36) $ (6.21)

Under SFAS No. 123, the fair value of each option grant is estimated
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

2005 2004 2003
Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility 57.73% 39.00% 39.00%
Risk-free interest rate 3.89% - 4.41% 3.19% - 3.81% 3.21% - 5.03%
Expected life of option 7 years 8 years 8 years

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) excludes dilution and is
computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is
computed by increasing the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding by the dilutive effect of the issuance of common
stock for options outstanding under Spartan Stores’ stock option plans. 

Weighted average shares issuable upon the exercise of stock
options that were not included in the earnings (loss) per share
calculations because they were antidilutive were 1,018,889 in fiscal
2005, 1,364,725 in fiscal 2004 and 1,186,987 in fiscal 2003. 

Advertising Costs
Spartan Stores’ advertising costs are expensed as incurred and
included in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Advertising expenses were
$9.9 million in fiscal 2005, $9.2 million in fiscal 2004 and $10.2 million
in fiscal 2003.

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income (loss) is net earnings (loss) adjusted for the
net gain or loss on interest rate swap agreements, unrealized gains
and losses on securities and minimum pension liability, net of applicable
income taxes. The components of accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) are as follows:

(In thousands)
Accumulated

Unrealized Interest Rate Minimum Other
Gain (Loss) Swap Pension Comprehensive

on Securities Liability Liability Loss
Balances at 

March 30, 2003 $ 121 $ (372) $ (2,565) $ (2,816)
Other comprehensive 

gain (loss) for 2004, 
net of tax of $1,418 (121) 372 2,383 2,634

Balances at 
March 27, 2004 - - (182) (182)

Other comprehensive 
loss for 2005, 
net of tax of $11 - - (21) (21)

Balances at
March 26, 2005 $ - $ - $ (203) $ (203)

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” that will
require compensation costs related to share-based payment
transactions to be recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
With limited exceptions, the amount of compensation cost will be
measured based on the grant date fair value of the equity or liability
instruments issued. In addition, liability awards will be remeasured
each reporting period. Compensation cost will be recognized over
the period that an employee provides services in exchange for the
award. SFAS No. 123(R) replaces SFAS No. 123, and supercedes APB
Opinion No. 25. This Statement becomes effective for Spartan Stores
at the beginning of fiscal 2007. Spartan Stores expects that the
impact of adopting the FAS No. 123(R) will be consistent with the pro
forma expense that has been previously disclosed, adjusted for
future grants, cancellations and exercises of stock options in accordance
with the Statement.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FSP FAS 106-2, “Accounting and
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.” FSP FAS 106-2 provides
guidance on the accounting, disclosure, effective date and transition
rules related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003. FSP FAS 106-2 was adopted in the second
quarter of fiscal 2005 and did not have a significant impact on the
financial statements.
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Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the fiscal 2004 and fiscal
2003 financial statements to conform to the fiscal 2005 presentation.

Note 2 
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” provides that
intangible assets with finite useful lives be amortized and that good-
will and intangible assets with indefinite lives not be amortized, but
tested at least annually for impairment. Under the provisions of SFAS
No. 142, any impairment loss identified upon adoption of this standard
is recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
Any impairment loss incurred subsequent to initial adoption of SFAS
No. 142 is recorded as a charge to current period earnings. SFAS No.
142 also requires that goodwill be assigned to reporting units based
upon the expected benefits to be derived from synergies resulting
from the business combination.

SFAS No. 142 was adopted on March 31, 2002. In accordance with
the provisions of SFAS No. 142, goodwill of approximately $30.3 million
previously included in the Retail segment was assigned to the
Grocery Distribution segment based upon the expected benefits to
be realized by each segment. Under the transitional provisions of
SFAS No. 142, goodwill was tested for impairment as of March 31, 2002.
Each reporting unit was tested for impairment by comparing the fair
value of each reporting unit with its carrying value. Fair value was
determined based on the discounted cash flows and comparable
market values of the segment. As a result of the impairment testing,
an impairment loss was recorded to reduce the carrying value of
goodwill at the Retail segment by $41.6 million (prior to provision for
tax benefit of $6.2 million) to its implied fair value. Impairment was
due to a number of factors, including operating performance and the
impact of new competition. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the
impairment charge was reflected as a cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:

(In thousands)
Grocery

Retail Distribution Other Total
Balance at 

March 30, 2002, 
net of accumulated 
amortization $ 155,154 $ 46 $ 43 $ 155,243

Allocation of 
goodwill upon 
adoption of 
SFAS No. 142 (30,300) 30,300 - -

Impairment of goodwill 
recognized as a 
cumulative effect 
of a change in 
accounting principle (41,600) - - (41,600)

Impairment of goodwill 
recognized in 
operating loss (43,154) - - (43,154)

Impairment of goodwill 
recognized in 
discontinued 
operations (1,846) - - (1,846)

Other 100 - - 100
Balance at 

March 29, 2003 38,354 30,346 43 68,743
Other - - (43) (43)
Acquisition of 

retail operations 3,405 - - 3,405
Balance at 

March 27, 2004 41,759 30,346 - 72,105
Other 210 - - 210
Balance at 

March 26, 2005 $ 41,969 $ 30,346 $ - $ 72,315

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, Spartan Stores acquired the
equipment and lease rights for two Northern Supermarket’s Inc.
retail stores for approximately $3.6 million. These stores were located
in markets currently served by Spartan Stores. One of the acquired
locations was closed, while Spartan Stores transferred the operations
of its existing store into the other acquired store due to its larger size
and better overall location in the community. As a result, store exit
costs of $3.3 million were recorded. 
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During the third quarter of fiscal 2003, a valuation of the Retail segment
was conducted due to significantly lower than anticipated operating
results and cash flows.  Fair value was determined based on the
discounted cash flows and comparable market values for the segment.
As a result of the impairment analysis, a loss was recorded to reduce
the carrying value of goodwill at the Retail segment by $45.0 million
(including $1.8 million in discontinued operations), prior to provision
for tax benefit of $15.7 million, to its implied fair value. 

The following table reflects the components of amortized intangible
assets, included in Other, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

(In thousands) March 26, 2005 March 27, 2004
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Non-compete 
agreements $ 4,332 $ 1,619 $ 5,382 $ 2,816

Favorable leases 2,506 1,104 2,506 909
Total $ 6,838 $ 2,723 $ 7,888 $ 3,725

The weighted average amortization period of non-compete agreements,
favorable leases, and intangible assets in total is 9.0 years, 13.2 years
and 10.2 years, respectively. Amortization expense for intangible
assets was $0.7 million and $0.9 million for the fiscal years 2005 and
2004, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for each of the
five succeeding fiscal years is as follows:

(In thousands)
Fiscal Year Amortization Expense
2006 $ 660
2007 574
2008 518
2009 477
2010 379
Total $ 2,608

Note 3 
Discontinued Operations

Spartan Stores’ former convenience distribution operations, insurance
operations and certain of its retail, grocery distribution and real
estate operations have been recorded as discontinued operations.
Results of the discontinued operations are excluded from the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for all
periods presented, unless otherwise noted.

Convenience Distribution Operations
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, Spartan Stores completed
the sale of the operating assets of United Wholesale Grocery
Company (“United”). Proceeds received on the sale of these assets
were  $16.9 million. The asset sale included a continuing supply
agreement between Spartan Stores and the new owner; however,
this supply agreement does not constitute a significant continuing
involvement, as defined by SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” As such, the operations
and discontinued cash flows of United have been eliminated from
the ongoing operations of Spartan Stores. 

During the first quarter of fiscal 2004, Spartan Stores completed the
sale of substantially all the assets of L&L/Jiroch Distributing
Company and J.F. Walker Company to The H.T. Hackney Co.
for approximately $40.8 million in cash and the assumption of
certain liabilities.

Insurance Operations
At March 26, 2005, Spartan Stores had approximately $4.0 million
remaining in insurance reserves for open claim liabilities related to
policies that were not ceded (transferred) to an unrelated third party.
Spartan Stores will remain obligated under these policies until all
claims are closed and have retained an independent third party
administrator to manage these claims. Spartan Stores has not issued
policies since December 31, 2001 and retains liability only for those
policies issued prior to September 1, 2000. In fiscal 2003, Spartan
Stores recorded a charge of $1.5 million for additional amounts

           



Spartan Stores, Inc. Annual Report 2005 37

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

required to be paid to an unrelated third party for claim liabilities
previously ceded based upon updated actuarial studies reflecting a
larger than originally anticipated obligation in accordance with the
third party agreement. In fiscal 2005, a $1.2 million credit was recorded
based upon better than anticipated claims results, which resulted in
lower actuarial determined liabilities.  Net loss from the insurance
operations from the measurement date, January 2001, to March 26, 2005
totaled $2.1 million. 

Retail Operations
During fiscal 2003, Spartan Stores closed 15 retail stores and
announced the closing of 13 of its Food Town retail stores principally
located in Toledo, Ohio and outlying areas with the remaining 26
Food Town stores to be sold or closed. During fiscal 2004, Spartan
Stores completed the sale of 24 Food Town stores for net proceeds
of $42.1 million. Stores not sold were closed. 

Grocery Distribution Operations
Spartan Stores consolidated its Toledo, Ohio distribution operations
into its Michigan facilities during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. As
a result of the decision to exit the Food Town stores, the operations
related to these facilities were classified as discontinued operations
in the consolidated financial statements because the operations and
cash flows of these facilities were substantially eliminated from
ongoing operations. Spartan Stores continues to distribute to its The
Pharm stores in Ohio from its distribution facilities in Michigan.

Real Estate Operations
In fiscal 2004 and 2003, Spartan Stores sold properties representing
substantially all of the remaining assets and operations of our former
Real Estate segment; accordingly, the results of operations of the
discontinued components of the Real Estate segment and the net
gain (loss) on disposal have been reported as discontinued operations.

A summary of the results of discontinued operations reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and significant assets and 

liabilities of discontinued operations reported in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets are included below:

(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended
March 26, March 27, March 29,

2005 2004 2003
Net sales $ - $ 320,038 $1,279,831
Loss from discontinued 

operations
Loss from operations, 

including provision 
for asset impairments
and exit costs
of $3,100, $6,794 
and $63,190 $ (2,683) $ (11,565) $ (97,893)

Gain on disposal - 10,055 18,677
Tax benefit 1,646 732 28,052

Loss from discontinued 
operations $ (1,037) $ (778) $ (51,164)

Basic and diluted loss 
per share $ (.05) $ (.03) $ (2.57)

(In thousands)
March 26, March 27,

2005 2004
Current assets * $ 1,909 $ 3,675
Property, net 4,157 4,666
Current liabilities 6,896 8,537
Long-term liabilities 7,459 8,445

* Includes property and equipment held for sale

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 87-24,
“Allocation of Interest to Discontinued Operations,” interest was
allocated to discontinued operations based on the debt that was
required to be repaid as a result of asset dispositions. Interest
expense of $1.9 million and $8.6 million was allocated to, and is
included in, Loss from discontinued operations in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.
Interest expense was not allocated to discontinued operations in fiscal
2005 as all related debt has been paid as a result of the disposal of
these operations.
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Note 4 
Asset Impairments and Exit Costs

The Retail segment recognized charges of $4.5 million in fiscal 2003
for asset impairment and store and office facility exit costs, which
include the present value of future minimum lease payments, calculated
using a risk-free interest rate, and related ancillary costs from the
date of closure to the end of the remaining lease term, net of estimated
sublease recoveries, as well as severance benefits. Also in fiscal
2003, management determined that one store that had previously
been designated for closure would not be closed because market
conditions in the area changed.

The following table provides the activity of exit costs for fiscal years
2005, 2004 and 2003. Exit costs recorded in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets are included in Other accrued expenses in current liabilities
and Other long-term liabilities based on when the costs are expected
to be paid.

(In thousands)
Lease and

Ancillary Costs Severance
Balance at 

March 31, 2002 $ 5,006 $ -
Provision for lease and 

related ancillary costs, 
net of estimated 
sublease recoveries 17,936 (a) -

Provision for severance 4,021 (b)
Payments, net of 

interest accretion (3,969) (155)
Balance at 

March 29, 2003 18,973 3,866
Provision for lease and 

related ancillary costs, 
net of estimated 
sublease recoveries 2,578 (b) -

Assumption of leases 
(See Note 2) 3,347 -

Provision for severance - 3,299 (b)
Payments, net of 

interest accretion (6,560) (6,542)
Balance at 

March 27, 2004 18,338 623
Provision for lease and 

related ancillary costs, 
net of estimated 
sublease recoveries 1,400 (b)

Provision for pension 
withdrawal liability 1,700 (c)

Payments, net of 
interest accretion (5,918) (456)

Balance at 
March 26, 2005 $ 15,520 $ 167

(a) Includes $14.9 million of charges recorded in discontinued operations.
(b) Recorded in discontinued operations.
(c) Represents a pension withdrawal liability from a multi-employer
pension plan affiliated with the former discontinued Food Town
supermarkets. The liability is being paid over seven years. Charge
was recorded in discontinued operations.

Note 5 
Long-Term Debt

Spartan Stores’ long-term debt consists of the following:

(In thousands)
March 26, March 27,

2005 2004
Senior secured revolving 

credit facility, due December 2008 $ 82,036 $ 97,223
Supplemental secured credit facility - 14,800
Notes payable, due June 2007, 

monthly principal payments of  
variable amounts 4,223 4,649

Other 8,535 12,121
94,794 128,793

Less current portion 2,848 4,177
Total long-term debt $ 91,946 $ 124,616

Effective December 23, 2003, Spartan Stores repaid its outstanding
bank loans under its former senior secured facility and entered into
a $170.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility and a
$15.0 million supplemental secured credit facility. The senior
secured credit facility is secured by substantially all of Spartan
Stores’ and its subsidiaries’ assets. Spartan Stores recorded a non-
cash charge of $8.8 million for unamortized bank fees associated
with previous financing activities during the third quarter of fiscal
2004. In December 2004, Spartan Stores amended the senior secured
revolving credit agreement and terminated the supplemental
secured credit facility. The amended senior secured revolving credit
facility (“credit facility”) increased to $215.0 million from its original
$170.0 million, includes a reduction in interest rates and now matures
in December 2008 rather than December 2007. A portion of the funds
made available under the amended agreement were used to prepay
without penalty the remaining $13.9 million due under the supplemental
secured credit facility. Spartan Stores recorded a pre-tax, non-cash
charge of $0.6 million for the write-off of unamortized bank fees
associated with the supplemental secured credit facility during the
third quarter of fiscal 2005. 
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Available borrowings under the credit facilities are based on stipulated
advance rates on eligible assets, as defined in the credit agreements.
The credit facilities contain covenants that include the maintenance
of minimum EBITDA and maximum capital expenditures, as defined
in the credit agreements. These covenants will not be effective as
long as Spartan Stores maintains a minimum excess availability
level, as defined in the credit agreements. Spartan Stores had available
borrowings of $78.9 million at March 26, 2005 and maximum
availability of $88.9 million, which exceeds the minimum excess
availability levels. The credit facilities provide for the issuance of letters
of credit of which $11.3 million were outstanding and unused as of
March 26, 2005. The senior secured revolving credit facility bears
interest at the London InterBank Offered Rate plus 1.75% or the
prime rate (weighted average interest rate of 4.67% at March 26,  2005).

The weighted average interest rates including loan fee amortization
for fiscal 2005, 2004 and fiscal 2003 were 8.33%, 8.77% and 9.59%,
respectively. 

At March 26, 2005 long-term debt was due as follows:

(In thousands)
Fiscal Year
2006 $ 2,848
2007 2,124
2008 4,131
2009 82,623
2010 642
Thereafter 2,426

$ 94,794

Note 6 
Commitments and Contingencies

Spartan Stores subleases property at six locations to customers and
receives annual rental income of $1.4 million. In the event of the
customer’s default, Spartan would be responsible for fulfilling these
lease obligations. The future payment obligations under these leases
are disclosed in Note 7. 

Various other lawsuits and claims, arising in the ordinary course of
business, are pending or have been asserted against Spartan
Stores. While the ultimate effect of such actions cannot be predicted
with certainty, management believes that their outcome will not
result in a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial posi-
tion, operating results or liquidity of Spartan Stores.

Note 7 
Leases

Rental expense was $25.8 million, $25.5 million and $26.4 million in
fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. Future minimum
obligations under operating leases in effect at March 26, 2005 are as
follows:

(In thousands)
Used in Subleased

Fiscal Year Operations to Others Total
2006 $ 20,719 $ 871 $ 21,590
2007 18,258 879 19,137
2008 16,467 691 17,158
2009 14,488 608 15,096
2010 12,796 518 13,314
Thereafter 40,594 1,558 42,152

Total $ 123,322 $ 5,125 $ 128,447

One of Spartan Stores’ subsidiaries leases retail store facilities to
non-related entities. Of the stores leased, several are owned and
others were obtained through leasing arrangements and are
accounted for as operating leases. A majority of our leases provide
for minimum and contingent rentals based upon stipulated sales volumes.

Owned assets, included in property and equipment, which are
leased to others are as follows:

(In thousands)
March 26, March 27,

2005 2004
Land and improvements $ 4,686 $ 4,686
Buildings 2,480 2,480

7,166 7,166
Less accumulated depreciation 2,593 2,374
Net property $ 4,573 $ 4,792

Future minimum rentals to be received under operating leases in
effect at March 26, 2005 are as follows:

(In thousands)
Owned Leased

Fiscal Year Property Property Total
2006 $ 1,005 $ 1,427 $ 2,432
2007 882 1,374 2,256
2008 882 1,058 1,940
2009 229 748 977
2010 - 649 649
Thereafter - 1,751 1,751
Total $ 2,998 $ 7,007 $ 10,005
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Note 8 
Associate Retirement Plans

Spartan Stores’ retirement programs include pension plans providing
non-contributory benefits and salary reduction defined contribution
plans providing contributory benefits. Substantially all of Spartan
Stores’ associates not covered by collective bargaining agreements
are covered by either a non-contributory cash balance pension plan
(“Company Plan”), a defined contribution plan or both. Associates
covered by collective bargaining agreements are included in multi-
employer pension plans.

Spartan Stores’ Company Plan benefit formula utilizes a cash balance
approach. Under the cash balance formula, credits are added annually
to a participant’s “account” based on a percent of the participant’s
compensation and years of vested service at the beginning of each
calendar year. Transition credits are also added at Spartan Stores’
discretion to certain participants’ accounts until the year 2007 if certain
age and years-of-service requirements are met. Spartan Stores
suspended the accrual of service and transition credits to the
Company Plan for fiscal 2004, while interest credits continued to
accrue. The accrual of service and transition credits to the Company
Plan were reinstated for fiscal 2005; however, effective January 1,
2004, an amendment was made to the Company Plan, reducing service
credits for certain participants and placing all participants on the
same service credit schedule. At Spartan Stores’ discretion, interest
credits are also added annually to a participant’s account based
upon the participant’s account balance as of the last day of the
immediately preceding calendar year. Annual payments to the pension
trust fund are determined in compliance with the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1976 (“ERISA”). Company Plan
assets consist principally of common stocks and U.S. government
and corporate obligations. At March 26, 2005 and March 27, 2004
Company Plan assets included shares of Spartan Stores common
stock valued at $2.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively.  

Spartan Stores also maintains a Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan (“SERP”), which provides nonqualified deferred compensation
benefits to Spartan Stores’ officers. Benefits under the SERP are
paid from Spartan Stores’ general assets, as there is no separate
trust established to fund benefits. On March 21, 2003 Spartan Stores
paid $2.9 million in SERP benefits under the provisions of the plan. In
fiscal 2004, $1.4 million of this distribution was recognized as
expense under settlement accounting, as described by SFAS No. 88,
“Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits.” 

Matching contributions made by Spartan Stores to salary reduction
defined contribution plans totaled $2.0 million, $2.6 million and
$3.1 million in fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.

In addition to the plans described above, Spartan Stores participates
in several multi-employer and other defined contribution plans for
substantially all associates covered by collective bargaining
agreements. The expense for these plans totaled approximately
$6.5 million in fiscal 2005, $6.4 million in fiscal 2004 and $5.8 million in
fiscal 2003.

The Multi-Employer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980 amended
ERISA to establish funding requirements and obligations for employers
participating in multi-employer plans, principally related to employer
withdrawal from or termination of such plans. Separate actuarial
calculations of Spartan Stores’ position with respect to the multi-
employer plans are not available.

Spartan Stores and certain subsidiaries provide health care benefits
to retired associates who have at least 30 years of service or
10 years of service and have attained age 55, and who were not
covered by collective bargaining arrangements during their employment
(“covered associates”). Qualified covered associates that retired
prior to March 31, 1992 receive major medical insurance with
deductible and coinsurance provisions until age 65 and Medicare
supplemental benefits thereafter. Covered associates retiring after
April 1, 1992 are eligible for monthly postretirement health care benefits
of $5 multiplied by the associate’s years of service. This benefit is in
the form of a credit against the monthly insurance premium. The balance
of the premium is paid by the retiree.

The following tables set forth the change in benefit obligation,
change in plan assets, weighted average assumptions used in actuarial
calculations and components of net periodic benefit costs for
Spartan Stores’ pension and postretirement benefit plans. The
accrued benefit costs are reported in Postretirement benefits in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The measurement date was
December 31 of each year.
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(In thousands, except percentages) Pension Benefits SERP Benefits Postretirement Benefits

March 26, March 27, March 26, March 27, March 26, March 27,
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 44,241 $ 53,555 $ 561 $ 3,105 $ 6,375 $ 6,050
Service cost 3,438 263 20 - 227 232
Interest cost 2,605 3,417 33 44 389 398
Plan amendments - (5,149) - (18) - -
Actuarial loss (gain) 825 (2,576) 52 359 136 (142)
Benefits paid (7,302) (5,269) (88) (2,929) (306) (163)

Benefit obligation at measurement date $ 43,807 $ 44,241 $ 578 $ 561 $ 6,821 $ 6,375

Change in plan assets
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of year $ 41,650 $ 37,615 $ - $ - $ - $ -
Actual return on plan assets 4,423 7,379 - - - -
Company contributions 777 1,925 88 2,929 306 163
Benefits paid (7,302) (5,269) (88) (2,929) (306) (163)

Plan assets at fair value at measurement date $ 39,548 $ 41,650 $ - $ - $ - $ -

Funded status $ (4,259) $ (2,591) $ (578) $ (561) $ (6,821) $ (6,375)
Unrecognized net gain 7,564 7,862 335 299 1,414 1,316
Unrecognized prior service cost (8,592) (9,283) (17) (18) (903) (967)
Unrecognized net transition obligation 5 11 - - - -

Accrued benefit cost at measurement date (5,282) (4,001) (260) (280) (6,310) (6,026)
Contributions during fourth quarter - - 15 15 - -
Accrued benefit cost at end of year $ (5,282) $ (4,001) $ (245) $ (265) $ (6,310) $ (6,026)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheets consist of:

Accrued benefit liability $ (5,282) $ (4,001) $ (558) $ (545) $ (6,310) $ (6,026)
Accumulated other comprehensive income - - 313 280 - -

$ (5,282) $ (4,001) $ (245) $ (265) $ (6,310) $ (6,026)

Weighted average assumptions at measurement date
Discount rate 5.75% 6.25% 5.75% 6.25% 5.75% 6.25%
Expected return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% N/A N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% N/A N/A

The accumulated benefit obligation for both of the defined benefit plans was $43.8 million and $40.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Components of net periodic benefit cost
(In thousands) Pension Benefits SERP Benefits

March 26, March 27, March 29, March 26, March 27, March 29,
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Service cost $ 3,438 $ 263 $ 4,041 $ 20 $ - $ 93
Interest cost 2,605 3,417 3,443 33 44 176
Expected return on plan assets (3,438) (3,860) (4,630) - - -
Net amortization and deferral (547) (356) (356) 15 21 59
Curtailment income - (172) - - - -
Settlement expense - 726 - - 1,444 -
Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,058 $ 18 $ 2,498 $ 68 $ 1,509 $ 328
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Postretirement Benefits
March 26, March 27, March 29,

2005 2004 2003
Service cost $ 227 $ 232 $ 198
Interest cost 389 398 368
Net amortization and deferral (26) (16) (35)

Net periodic benefit cost $ 590 $ 614 $ 531

Spartan Stores has assumed an average long-term expected return
on pension plan assets of 8.5% as of March 26, 2005. The expected
return is based upon the assumption that future returns will approximate
the historical long-term rates of return for each asset class. 

Spartan Stores has an investment policy for the pension plan with a
long-term asset allocation mix designed to meet the long-term retirement
obligations. The asset allocation mix is reviewed annually and, on a
regular basis, actual allocations are rebalanced to approximate the
prevailing targets. The following table summarizes actual allocations
as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003:

Plan Assets
Target December 31, December 31,
Range 2004 2003

Asset Category
Equity securities 60.0 - 75.0% 74.4% 73.4%
Fixed income 25.0 - 40.0 25.6 26.6
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The investment policy emphasizes the following key objectives: (1)
maintain the purchasing power of the current assets and all future
contributions by producing positive real rates of return on plan
assets; (2) maximize return within reasonable and prudent levels of
risk in order to minimize contributions and (3) control costs of
administering the plan and managing the investments.

Spartan Stores expects to contribute $3.2 million to its defined benefit
plans in fiscal 2006 to meet the minimum funding requirements.

The following estimated benefit payments, which reflect expected
future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in the following
fiscal years:

(In thousands)
Pension Other
Benefits Benefits

2006 $ 2,816 $ 384
2007 2,678 386
2008 3,687 384
2009 3,055 390
2010 3,628 381
2011 to 2015 22,784 2,052

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on
the amounts reported for the postretirement plan. The assumed
health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation was 5.00% for fiscal 2005, fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003 and will remain at that level for all future years.
A 1% increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate would
increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by 0.98%
and the periodic postretirement benefit cost by 0.66%. A 1%
decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate would
decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by
0.90% and periodic postretirement benefit cost by 0.60%.

Note 9 
Taxes on Income

The income tax provision for continuing operations is summarized as
follows: 

(In thousands)
March 26, March 27, March 29,

2005 2004 2003
Currently refundable $ (84) $ (79) $ (60)
Deferred 8,766 (3,108) (19,099)

$ 8,682 $ (3,187) $ (19,159)

The effective income tax rates are different from the statutory feder-
al income tax rates for the following reasons:

2005 2004 2003
Statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Tax credits (0.2) 0.8 0.1
Tax reserve adjustment (4.6) - -
Other 0.2 (0.8) (0.2)

Effective income tax rate 30.4% 35.0% 34.9%

Companies are regularly audited by federal and state tax authorities,
which may result in proposed assessments and adjustments. During
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Internal Revenue Service
concluded its audit of the fiscal 2001 through 2003 tax returns. As a
result of the audit, Spartan Stores released $2.0 million in tax
reserves that are no longer required with respect to these years, of
which $1.3 million and $0.7 million, respectively, is reflected in
Income taxes and Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes,
on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively, for
fiscal 2005. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities resulting from temporary
differences as of March 26, 2005 and March 27, 2004 are as follows:

(In thousands)
2005 2004

Deferred tax assets:
Employee benefits $ 8,018 $ 8,244
Accounts receivable 1,190 1,155
Goodwill 4,626 7,438
Net operating loss 11,983 14,481
Asset impairment and 

closed store reserves 5,476 8,973
All other 3,980 2,756

Total deferred tax assets 35,273 43,047
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation 8,799 7,157
Inventory 1,901 1,532
All other 497 2,858

Total deferred tax liabilities 11,197 11,547

Net deferred tax asset $ 24,076 $ 31,500

Spartan Stores has a net operating loss carryforward of $34.2 million,
of which $2.1 million expires in fiscal year 2023 and $32.1 million
expires in fiscal 2024.

Note 10 
Shareholders’ Equity

Spartan Stores has a shareholder-approved stock incentive plan
covering 2,000,000 shares of Spartan Stores common stock. The plan
provides for the granting of incentive stock options as well as
non-qualified stock options, restricted stock and stock awards to
directors, officers and other key associates. 

Spartan Stores accounts for stock option grants in accordance with
SFAS No. 123, and as allowed by this statement recognizes expense
using the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25
and related Interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation cost has
been recognized for stock option grants since the options have exercise
prices equal to the fair market value at the date of grant. Options
must be exercised within ten years of the date of grant. 

Spartan Stores awarded 248,253 and 148,399 shares of restricted
stock during fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004. These shares vest over a
three to five year period and are subject to certain transfer restrictions
and forfeiture prior to vesting. Deferred stock-based compensation,
representing the fair value of the stock at the measurement date of
the award, is amortized to compensation expense over the vesting
period. No restricted stock awards were issued in fiscal 2003. 

The authorization to grant options and restricted stock under the
plan terminates on May 8, 2011. As of March 26, 2005, 486,939 shares
remained unissued under the 2001 Stock Option Plan.  The following
table also includes outstanding options granted under the 1991 Stock
Option Plan.

Weighted
Average Fair

Shares Weighted Value of
Under Average Options

Options Exercise Price Granted
Options outstanding 

at March 31, 2002 899,754 $ 11.47
Granted 753,784 6.60 $ 3.50
Exercised (16,666) 7.44
Cancelled (217,633) 10.52

Options outstanding
at March 29, 2003 1,419,239 $ 9.08

Granted 381,500 2.44 $ 1.20
Cancelled (370,399) 8.81

Options outstanding 
at March 27, 2004 1,430,340 $ 7.38

Granted 121,278 3.26 $ 2.03
Exercised (20,646) 3.33
Cancelled (190,212) 7.92

Options outstanding 
at March 26, 2005 1,340,760 $ 6.99

Options exercisable 
at March 26, 2005 669,779 $ 8.70

The following table sets forth options outstanding at March 26, 2005
by exercise price and remaining contractual life:

Weighted Average
Remaining

Options Contractual Life
Exercise Prices Outstanding Years
$ 8.46 – 9.96 6,680 2.2 – 5.1

2.68 – 16.57 742,615 5.5 – 7.5
1.75 – 5.65 479,188 7.6 – 8.7
3.25 – 4.26 112,277 9.1 – 9.5

$ 1.75 – 16.57 1,340,760 7.29

Spartan Stores has a stock bonus plan covering 300,000 shares of
Spartan Stores common stock. Under the provisions of this plan, certain
officers and key associates of Spartan Stores may elect to receive a
portion of their annual bonus in common stock rather than cash and
will be granted additional shares of common stock worth 30% of the
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portion of the bonus they elect to receive in stock. Stock issued
under the stock bonus plan is accounted for in accordance with APB
Opinion No. 25. Compensation expense is recorded based upon the
market price of the stock as of the measurement date. At March 26,
2005, 185,485 shares remained unissued under the plan.

Spartan Stores has an associate stock purchase plan covering
700,000 shares of Spartan Stores common stock. The plan provides
that associates of Spartan Stores and its subsidiaries may purchase
shares at 85% of the fair market value. At March 26, 2005, 275,178
shares had been issued under the plan. The plan was terminated on
April 1, 2005. 

Spartan Stores’ restated articles of incorporation provide that the
board of directors may at any time, and from time to time, provide for
the issuance of up to 10 million shares of preferred stock in one or
more series, each with such designations as determined by the
board of directors. At March 26, 2005, there were no shares of
preferred stock outstanding.

Note 11 
Operating Segment Information

Using the management approach as required by SFAS No. 131,
“Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information,” Spartan Stores’ operating segments are identified by
products sold and customer profile and include the Grocery
Distribution and Retail segments.

The operations of the Insurance, Real Estate and Convenience
Distribution segments and a portion of the Retail and Grocery
Distribution segments are classified as discontinued operations.
Residual real estate business operations are considered to be
immaterial under the criteria in SFAS No. 131 and have not been
separately classified. Those operations have been recorded in the
Grocery Distribution segment. See Note 3 for further discussion.
Segment information for earlier periods has been restated to reflect
changes in the composition of the reportable segments. 

Spartan Stores’ Grocery Distribution segment supplies independent
retail customers and its own retail stores with dry grocery, produce,
dairy products, meat, deli, bakery, beverages, frozen food, seafood,
floral, general merchandise, pharmacy and health and beauty care
items. To supply its wholesale customers, Spartan Stores operates a
fleet of tractors, conventional trailers and refrigerated trailers,
substantially all of which are leased by Spartan Stores. 

The Retail segment operates supermarkets and deep-discount food
and drug stores in Michigan and Ohio that typically offer dry grocery,
produce, dairy products, meat, floral, seafood, health and beauty
care, cosmetics, delicatessen and bakery goods and over half of the
stores offer pharmacy services. 

Identifiable assets represent total assets directly associated with
the various operating segments.  Eliminations in assets identified to
segments include intercompany receivables, payables and investments. 

The following tables set forth information by operating segment:

(In thousands)
Grocery

Distribution Retail Total
Year Ended March 26, 2005

Net sales $ 1,120,637 $ 922,550 $ 2,043,187
Depreciation 

and amortization 8,146 12,578 20,724
Operating earnings 24,528 12,969 37,497
Capital expenditures 6,377 18,977 25,354

Year Ended March 27, 2004
Net sales $ 1,132,338 $ 922,639 $ 2,054,977
Depreciation 

and amortization 8,681 17,196 25,877
Operating earnings (loss) 18,364 (5,802) 12,562
Capital expenditures 3,972 7,567 11,539

Year Ended March 29, 2003
Net sales $ 1,095,183 $ 880,494 $ 1,975,677
Provision for asset 

impairments 
and exit costs - 47,711 47,711

Depreciation 
and amortization 10,883 16,172 27,055

Operating earnings (loss) 13,387 (51,745) (38,358)
Capital expenditures 3,763 8,341 12,104

2005 2004 2003
Total assets

Grocery Distribution $ 191,086 $ 203,398 $ 238,744
Retail 187,301 181,125 190,428
Discontinued operations 6,070 8,341 127,134
Total $ 384,457 $ 392,864 $ 556,306
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Note 12
Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Earnings (loss) per share amounts for each quarter are required to be computed independently and may not equal the amount computed for
the total year. Stock sales prices are based on transactions reported on The NASDAQ Stock Market. 

(In thousands, except per share data)

Full Year 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter
Fiscal 2005 (52 weeks) (12 weeks) (16 weeks) (12 weeks) (12 weeks)

Net sales $ 2,043,187 $ 457,644 $ 624,517 $ 486,701 $ 474,325

Gross margin 386,671 88,328 117,352 95,091 85,900

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 28,545 6,099 8,921 10,911 2,614

Earnings from continuing operations 19,863 5,272 5,798 7,094 1,699

Discontinued operations, net of taxes (1,037) 525 (1,273) (143) (146)

Net earnings 18,826 5,797 4,525 6,951 1,553

Earnings from continuing operations per share:

Basic $ 0.97 $ 0.25 $ 0.28 $ 0.35 $ 0.08

Diluted 0.96 0.25 0.28 0.35 0.08

Net earnings per share:

Basic $ 0.92 $ 0.28 $ 0.22 $ 0.34 $ 0.08

Diluted 0.91 0.28 0.22 0.34 0.08

Common stock sale price – High $ 11.14 $ 11.14 $ 6.64 $ 4.44 $ 4.88

Common stock sale price – Low 3.05 6.22 3.96 3.14 3.05

(In thousands, except per share data)

Full Year 4th Quarter 3rd Quarter 2nd Quarter 1st Quarter
Fiscal 2004 (52 weeks) (12 weeks) (16 weeks) (12 weeks) (12 weeks)

Net sales $ 2,054,977 $ 456,918 $ 644,119 $ 491,371 $ 462,569

Gross margin 375,499 82,785 115,084 92,867 84,763

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations before income taxes (9,107) (2,298) (6,256) 4,219 (4,772)

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations (5,920) (1,491) (4,069) 2,730 (3,090)

Discontinued operations, net of taxes (778) 3,215 (8) (958) (3,027)

Net (loss) earnings (6,698) 1,724 (4,077) 1,772 (6,117)

(Loss) earnings from continuing operations per share – Basic and Diluted $ (0.30) $ (0.07) $ (0.20) $ 0.14 $ (0.16)

Net (loss) earnings per share – Basic and Diluted (0.33) 0.09 (0.20) 0.09 (0.31)

Common stock sale price – High $ 6.07 $ 6.07 $ 5.96 $ 3.85 $ 2.90

Common stock sale price – Low 2.00 4.25 2.61 2.40 2.00
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Management’s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

The management of Spartan Stores, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Spartan Stores’ internal controls were designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of its financial
reporting and the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States and includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of Spartan Stores; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of Spartan Stores are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of Spartan Stores; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of Spartan Stores’ assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Management of Spartan Stores conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls, testing of the operating
effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Through this evaluation, management did not identify any material weakness
in the Company’s internal controls. There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal controls over financial reporting;
however, based on the evaluation, management has concluded that Spartan Stores’ internal controls over financial reporting were effective
as of March 26, 2005. 

Craig C. Sturken David M. Staples
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
May 3, 2005 May 3, 2005
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Board of Directors and Shareholders
Spartan Stores, Inc.
Grand Rapids, Michigan 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Controls Over
Financial Reporting, that Spartan Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of March 26, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting
was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (hereinafter referenced
to as “generally accepted accounting principles”). A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements. 

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of
any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 26,
2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 26, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended March 26, 2005 of the Company, and our report dated May 3, 2005, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements  and included an explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s change in method of
accounting for goodwill. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Grand Rapids, Michigan 
May 3, 2005
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Board of Directors and Shareholders
Spartan Stores, Inc.
Grand Rapids, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Spartan Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of March 26, 2005
and March 27, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended March 26, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Spartan Stores, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of March 26, 2005 and March 27, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended March 26, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, during the year ended March 29, 2003, Spartan Stores, Inc. and
subsidiaries changed its method of accounting for goodwill (Note 2) to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 26, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control–Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
May 3, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Grand Rapids, Michigan
May 3, 2005
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